Health Disparities: Measuring Health Care Use and Access for Racial/Ethnic Populations

Final Report

Part 2

Prepared for

Arthur Meltzer, PhD

Research and Evaluation Group Office of Research, Development, and Information Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Mail Stop C3-19-07 7500 Security Boulevard Baltimore, Maryland 21244-1850

Prepared by

Arthur J. Bonito, PhD Celia R. Eicheldinger, MS Nancy F. Lenfestey, MPH RTI International Health, Social, and Economics Research Research Triangle Park, NC 27709

RTI Project Number 07964.008 Contract No. 500-00-0024, Task No. 8



HEALTH DISPARITIES: MEASURING HEALTH CARE USE AND ACCESS FOR RACIAL/ETHNIC POPULATIONS

by Arthur J. Bonito, Ph.D., Project Director, Celia R. Eicheldinger, M.S. and Nancy F. Lenfestey, M.P.H.

Federal Project Officer: Arthur Meltzer, PhD

RTI International

CMS Contract No. 500-00-0024, Task No. 8

April 2005

This project was funded by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services under contract no. 500-00-0024. The statements contained in this report are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. RTI assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the information contained in this report.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We want to acknowledge the contributions of our programmers, Ann Larsen, Matthew Urato, and Bob Baker, and our technical editor, D.J. Bost. We owe a special debt of thanks to our word processor, Loraine Monroe, who labored tirelessly over what seemed like endless tables and revisions. All of these persons have been wonderful to work with. Without their special skills and hard work, this report would not have been possible.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (PART TWO)	ix
Purpose	ix
Background	ix
Methods, Data, and Approach	X
Major Findings on Use of Medicare Services by Race/Ethnicity	X
Cancer Screening Services	X
Diabetes Prevention Services	xii
Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions	xiii
Hospitalization for Selected Medical Conditions	xiv
Types of Services	xvi
CHAPTER 1 OVERVIEW	1
1.1 Overall Goal	1
1.2 Specific Objectives	1
1.3 Organization of the Report	2
CHAPTER 2 BACKGROUND	3
2.1 Assessing Access through Health Services Use: Racial/Ethnic Differences and	2
Dispances	
2.2 A Selective Review of Racial and Ethnic Health Dispartites	+۴ م
2.2.1 Dideks 2.2.2 American Indians/Alaskan Natives (AI/ANs)	0 8
2.2.2 American mutans/Alaskan Natives (Al/ANS)	8
2.2.5 Asians/Lacine Islanders (19/115)	0
2.2.5 Conclusion	9
	1.1
CHAPTER 3 METHODS	11
3.1 Selection of the Study Sample from the EDB	11
3.2 Assessment of Statistical Significance.	13
3.3 Reporting Results for the American Indian/Alaska Native Beneficiaries	20
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	22
4.1 An Overview of Selected Utilization Measures in Traditional Fee-for-Service	
Medicare: 2002	22
4.1.1 The Demographic Composition of Fee-for-Service Medicare	23
4.1.2 Selected Measures of Utilization by Race/Ethnicity	26
4.2 Race/Ethnicity and the Use of Preventive Services: Screening for Cancer	35
4.3 Use of Secondary Preventive Services: Diabetes Care	43
4.4 Need for Primary Care Services: Hospital and Emergency Room Admissions	
tor Ambulatory Care-Sensitive Conditions	52
4.5 Hospital Care for Selected Common Chronic and Acute Diagnoses	60
4.6 Utilization by Type of Service	79
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS	100

	5.1 Summary of Study Approach and Methods5.2 Summary of Results	100 101
	Cancer Screening Services	101
	Diabetes Prevention Services	102
	Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions	102
	Hospitalization for Selected Medical Conditions	103
	Types of Services 5.2 Consists and Limitations	103
	5.3 Caveats and Limitations	103
REF	ERENCES	106
LIST	Γ OF TABLES	
1	Distribution of Medicare beneficiaries believed eligible for the study sample by NEWRACE and EDBRACE	11
2	Distribution of Medicare beneficiaries selected for the study sample by NEWRACE and EDBRACE	12
3	Distribution of final study sample of selected Medicare beneficiaries by NEWRACE and EDBRACE	13
4	Distribution of weighted study sample of Medicare beneficiaries by NEWRACE and EDBRACE	13
LIST	Γ OF FIGURES	
1	Standard error of percent estimates by race/ethnicity	15
2	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Whites	16
3	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Blacks	17
4	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Hispanics	17
5	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Asian/Pacific Islanders	18
6	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for American Indian/Alaska Native	18
7	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Other	19
8	Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for Unknown	19
9	Demographic characteristics of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries: calendar year 2002	24
10	Percent Part A enrolled served in fee-for-service Medicare by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	26

11	Mean Medicare program payments and patient liabilities per person served by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	26
12	Discharges from short stay hospitals per 10,000 Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries and mean payments per discharge by race/ethnicity; calendar year 2002.	28
13	Discharges per 1000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries for overall top five diagnoses by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	29
14	Number of Discharges per 1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries for top five principal procedures by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	30
15	Covered days per skilled nursing facility admission and number of admissions per 1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002.	31
16	Number of covered skilled nursing facility days per admission for top five diagnoses by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	31
17	Home health visits/1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	33
18	Mean average payments per Medicare fee-for-service Part B beneficiary using professional services for top five types of service used by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002.	34
19	Mean average number of services received per Medicare fee-for-service Part B beneficiary receiving services for five most often used places of service by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	34
20	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries who received a mammogram by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	37
21	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries who received a pap test by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	38
22	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who received a PSA test by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	39
23	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received any colorectal screening by sex and race/ethnicity	40
24	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal cancer screening by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	41
25	Percentage female Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal cancer screening by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	42

26	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002.	44
27	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	45
28	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by age and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	46
29	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by age and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	47
30	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received foot care by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	48
31	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received an eye exam by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	49
32	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received testing services by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	50
33	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received instruction in self-care by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	51
34	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with a chronic ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	53
35	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for chronic ambulatory care-sensitive conditions by age group and race/ethnicity; calendar year 2002.	53
36	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for ambulatory care- sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	55
37	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for acute ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	55
38	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for preventive ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	57
39	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for preventive ambulatory care-sensitive conditions by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	57
40	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for any ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	59

41	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for any ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 200260
42	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of heart disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
43	Mean average payment for hospital discharge for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with heart disease diagnosis by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
44	Mean average length of stay for hospital discharges with heart disease diagnosis by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
45	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a hospital discharge diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
46	Mean average payment per Medicare fee-for-service beneficiary with a hospital discharge for a diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
47	Mean average length of hospital stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 200265
48	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service with hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
49	Mean average payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
50	Mean average length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
51	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 200270
52	Mean average payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 200271
53	Mean average length of hospital stay for hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity
54	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge for fracture diagnosis by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
55	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by age group, sex, and race/ethnicity: calendar year 200273

56	Mean average payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	75
57	Mean average length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	75
58	Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	77
59	Mean average payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	78
60	Mean average length of stay for hospital discharges with diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	79
61	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received any type of Medicare service by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	80
62	Mean annual payment by Medicare for beneficiaries using any services by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	81
63	Mean annual payments for male Medicare beneficiaries with any Medicare claims by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	82
64	Mean annual payments for female Medicare beneficiaries with any Medicare claims by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	82
65	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with a hospital stay by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	84
66	Mean annual payments for Medicare beneficiaries with hospital stay by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	85
67	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with physician visits by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	86
68	Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries with physician visits by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	87
69	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	88
70	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	88
71	Mean annual payment for male Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002	90

72	Mean annual payment for female Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
73	Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
74	Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
75	Mean annual payment for male Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
76	Mean annual payment for female Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
77	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries receiving durable medical equipment by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
78	Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries receiving durable medical equipment by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
79	Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries receiving emergency room services: calendar year 2002
80	Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries receiving emergency room services by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002
API	PENDICES
А	Tables of Assorted Global Measures of Utilization Replicated from the Medicare and Medicaid Supplement by Race/Ethnicity in 2002
В	Tables of Preventive Services Use: Cancer Screening by Age, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity in 2002
С	Tables of Chronic Disease Management Services: Utilization of Services to Prevent Complications of Diabetes by Age, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity in 2002C-1
D	Tables of Need for Primary Care Services: Hospital and Emergency Room Care for Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions by Age, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity in 2002 D-1
E	Tables of Hospital Care for Selected Common Chronic and Acute Diagnoses by Age, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity in 2002
F	Tables of Utilization for Types of Service by Age, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity in 2002
G	Description of Specifications for Creation of the Service Use and Other Analysis Variables

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (PART TWO)

The final report for this project has been prepared in two parts. Part One dealt primarily with methodological issues and data concerns. Part Two addresses several substantive issues related to access and utilization differences by race/ethnicity, and includes analyses using some of the products of Part One.

Purpose

The impetus for this project was the continuing interest the Centers for Medicare& Medicaid Services (CMS, formerly the Health Care Financing Administration or HCFA) has in improving the race/ethnicity coding of the Medicare enrollment database (EDB). This is an important issue because, with the exception of Blacks, little is known about the health care utilization patterns of elderly members of minority groups. In addition, because a disproportionate number of minorities are disadvantaged or vulnerable it is especially critical to monitor their access to health care through the Medicare program.

The goal of this part of the project has been to identify differences in the utilization of health services among racial/ethnic groups enrolled in Medicare nationally. We focused on the use of services that have been associated generally with racial/ethnic health disparities documented in the research literature in the context of the general population or selected segments of minority populations. We had several objectives. First was to document from the literature, existing health disparities and disease rate differences among adult Medicare beneficiaries according to race/ethnicity. Second was to select a large, random, stratified sample of Medicare beneficiaries, weight them to represent the entire Medicare fee-for-service population, and analyze their claims by race/ethnicity for disparities in the use of: (1) assorted global measures of utilization, (2) various cancer screening services, (3) preventive services among persons with diabetes, (4) ambulatory care sensitive conditions, (5) hospital services for the treatment of common chronic and acute conditions, and (6) the different types of services covered by Medicare. Finally, there was a desire to make the results of the analyses available to other researchers and policy makers in an easy-to-understand graphic format that highlights the most obvious examples of racial/ethnic disparities in the use of health services by Medicare beneficiaries

Background

This report addresses the concept of disparities in the use of health services and discusses why health care disparities and disparities in health are not the same thing, although there is a close association between them. Health care disparities in this report refer to differences in the use of health services between racial/ethnic minority groups and the dominant population group. Such differences may contribute to disparities in health status between the minority and dominant populations. Racial/ethnic disparities in health or in the receipt of health care are more than mere differences, however. They represent differences between racial/ethnic groups (regardless of cause) that are generally considered unwarranted, unfair, and undesirable. The concept of racial/ethnic disparities has a normative connotation that is absent from descriptions of statistical differences between the use patterns of others types of groups. Differences may be the result of what are considered different choices made by the groups, different distributions of risk factors and disease exposures, and genetic differences in susceptibility. However, a health care disparity exists when there is unequal access to health information or treatment and prevention services, but there is a presumably equal or demonstrably greater clinical need for them. It is the official policy of the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), that health care disparities should be eliminated because they can lead to disparities in health status.

Strategies that more closely tie the timely utilization of appropriate health services to clinical need rather than to racial/ethnic or socioeconomic factors can be expected to improve the health of minority groups and eliminate disparities. The present study intends to identify racial/ethnic health care disparities that exist in the Medicare fee-for-service population despite the equal access to care made possible for the elderly and disabled by enrollment in the program.

A literature review was also performed to identify racial/ethnic health disparities as well as disparities in the use of health care found to be associated with them. The review provided a basis for selecting areas of Medicare beneficiary service utilization to analyze, and a context for specifying when differences in utilization represent disparities.

Methods, Data, and Approach

To investigate racial/ethnic disparities in health care utilization in the Medicare program, a stratified random sample of beneficiaries was selected from the mid-2003 version of the unloaded EDB. To be eligible for inclusion in the sampling frame, beneficiaries had to have been enrolled in fee-for-service Medicare alone for all of 2002. Stratification was according to beneficiary race/ ethnicity based on the new race variable produced by the RTI-created algorithm described in Part One of this report.

The objective of the sampling design was to produce estimates for 2002 of utilization for each of the racial/ethnic groups that were approximately equal in precision, i.e. had similar standard errors, thus the sample was allocated as equally as possible across the race/ethnicity groups. The sample included 1.2 percent of the White, 11 percent of the Black, 26 percent of the Hispanic, 71 percent of the Asian/Pacific Islander, and 100 percent of the American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries. The final sample included a total of 1.96 million Medicare beneficiaries (6.2 percent) in the fee-for-service program. It was weighted to represent the total 31.60 million eligible fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries.

Major Findings on Use of Medicare Services by Race/Ethnicity

Cancer Screening Services

Low levels of cancer screening can result in diagnosis at a later stage of the disease with more limited treatment options, greater resultant disability, and higher mortality. One analysis looked for disparities among the races in the use of screening procedures for breast, cervical, prostate, and colorectal cancers by women and, where applicable, by men 65 to 84 years of age.

The use of mammography to screen for breast cancer was highest for White women 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 years of age -51 and 45 percent, respectively. The percentages among

minorities in the same age groups who had mammograms were 39 and 32 percent for Black, 34 and 27 percent for Hispanic, 33 and 27 percent for Asian/Pacific Islander, and 29 and 25 percent for American Indian/Alaska Native women. In light of the higher rate of breast cancer mortality among Black and American Indian/Alaska Native women, the lower percentage of them receiving mammograms represents a disparity in use that is likely to contribute to this disparity in health outcome.

A very similar situation was found with respect to use of Pap smears to screen 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 year old women for cervical cancer. White women in those age groups had the highest percentages receiving that test – 46 and 39 percent, respectively. Minority women in those age groups had smaller percentages receiving Pap tests. The percentages were 34 and 28 percent among Black, 30 and 23 percent among Hispanic, 32 and 25 percent among Asian/Pacific Islander, and 24 and 21 percent among American Indian/Alaska Native women. Because women who are Black, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native are much more likely to develop cervical cancer than those who are White, the smaller percentages of minority women obtaining Pap smears also represents a disparity in use that is likely to contribute to this disparity in health outcome.

Colorectal cancer screening among men and women could involve use of a fecal occult blood test (FOBT), sigmoidoscopy, or colonoscopy. Overall, more women (17 percent) had some type of colorectal cancer screening during the year than men (13 percent). White women 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 years of age had the highest percentages with colorectal cancer screening -- 21 and 20 percent, respectively. The percentages were 14 percent in both age groups for Black, 12 percent in both age groups for Hispanic, 16 and 17 percent for Asian/Pacific Islander, and 8 and 9 percent for American Indian/Alaska Native women.

A similar situation was found for men in the same age groups. White men had the highest percentages with some type of colorectal screening – 14 and 17 percent. The percentages of Black (10 and 11 percent), Hispanic (12 percent in both age groups), Asian/Pacific Islander (12 and 15 percent), and American Indian/Alaska Native (8 and 9 percent) men obtaining colorectal cancer screening were lower. While the incidence rate of colorectal cancer is not dissimilar for Whites and Blacks, the mortality for Blacks is higher. This disparity in use is again likely to be associated with the later stage of colorectal cancer detection among Black men and women, and influence the disparity in health outcomes relative to Whites.

Screening for prostate cancer using a test for the prostate specific antigen (PSA) was received most often by White men 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 years of age – 42 and 49 percent, respectively. The percentages receiving a PSA among men in those age groups who were Black (31 and 36 percent), Hispanic (36 and 29 percent), Asian/Pacific Islander (34 and 42 percent) and American Indian/Alaska Native (17 and 22 percent) were all lower. This disparity in use is again likely to be associated with the higher prostate cancer mortality experienced among Black, Hispanic and American Indian/Alaska Native men relative to White men.

Overall, higher percentages of White Medicare beneficiaries consistently received screening services for breast, cervical, colorectal, and prostate cancer than Black, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native Medicare beneficiaries, despite the fact that these groups experience equal or higher incidence of and higher mortality from these cancers. Smaller

percentages of Asian/Pacific Islander than White Medicare beneficiaries also received these screening services, but their incidence and mortality from these cancers are lower than for Whites. Our analysis indicates that there are racial/ethnic disparities in the use of cancer screening services.

Diabetes Prevention Services

Secondary preventive services are intended to limit the development of further complications to persons with an existing chronic medical condition. To assess the use of secondary preventive services, it is necessary to identify a subpopulation that has the condition whose further complication is to be avoided. Diabetes mellitus was examined because it is possible to identify persons with diabetes from their Medicare claims. In addition, diabetes has been identified as a condition for which minorities suffer disparities in health, possibly resulting from limited access to appropriate care.

Eleven percent of White Medicare beneficiaries were identified as having diabetes. The percentage was higher among those who were Black (20 percent), Hispanic (19 percent), Asian/Pacific Islander (15 percent), and American Indian/Alaska Native (26 percent) beneficiaries than it was among White beneficiaries. While the percentage of White men and women with diabetes was about the same, among minority group Medicare beneficiaries, diabetes was from 10 to 40 percent more prevalent among women than men.

Use of four secondary preventive services by persons with diabetes —foot care, eye examination, monitoring/testing, and instruction in self care—all covered in the traditional feefor-service Medicare plan were examined. Receipt of foot care is based on ambulatory care claims that paid for therapeutic shoes or for a podiatry visit. Foot care had the lowest level of reported use. Only 16 percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes had a claim for this service. The highest percentages of this service being used were for Black and Hispanic beneficiaries, 19 and 18 percent, respectively. The lowest level of use was among Asian/Pacific Islander and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries, nine and 13 percent, respectively. White beneficiaries used this service at just about the 16 percent level.

Receipt of eye examinations, the second preventive service for persons with diabetes that we examined, was much more widely used. Overall, 60 percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes had eye examinations. White and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries had the highest levels of use at 62 and 59 percent, respectively. Differences between the sexes in these two groups were small, ranging from one to three percent. The pattern of eye examination receipt among Black, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native Medicare beneficiaries was quite different, with 53, 53, and 45 percent having eye examinations, respectively.

The receipt of testing services for hemoglobin A1c, lipid profiling, or microalbumin for monitoring insulin needs was the most used of the diabetes secondary prevention services we examined from Medicare ambulatory care claims. More than 86 percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes received at least one of these tests during the previous year. There was virtually no difference between White and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries receiving testing services, 88 and 87 percent, respectively, the highest level of use. Black and Hispanic beneficiaries had 82 and 81 percent receiving these services, respectively, about six percentage

points lower use than Whites and Blacks. American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had the lowest level of testing services by far, only 49 percent, nearly 40 percentage points lower than Whites.

The final type of diabetes preventive service examined was diabetes education and selfmonitoring. Receipt of this service differed considerably by race/ethnicity. White and Black beneficiaries had the highest level of self-care training, 54 and 55 percent, respectively, followed by Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries with 48 and 44 percent. American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries received by far the lowest level of self-care training, 25 percent. This was less than half of what White and Black beneficiaries received.

Across the four diabetes secondary prevention services, White beneficiaries with diabetes most consistently received the highest level of services followed closely by Asians/Pacific Islanders. These two groups had the lowest percentage of diabetic beneficiaries. Blacks and Hispanics, groups with high diabetes prevalence, had lower preventive service use than Whites and Asians/Pacific Islanders, with the exception of the least used service (foot care). American Indians/Alaska Natives, the group with the highest diabetes prevalence had the lowest use levels of all the services except foot care. Clearly, racial/ethnic disparities exist in the use of these secondary preventive services for diabetes.

Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions

Timely and effective primary medical care for the management of many chronic conditions can avoid or reduce the need for expensive hospitalization and emergency room observation. Researchers studying differences in access to and quality of medical care have identified a number of conditions that are particularly responsive to ambulatory care. Hospitalizations for these ambulatory care-sensitive conditions (ACSCs) are taken as an indicator of inadequate (neither timely nor effective) or poor-quality primary care. A set of 15 ACSCs were examined to identify whether racial/ethnic groups have more admissions than White beneficiaries and could conceivably benefit from more or better primary care. For our analysis of what are relatively small numbers, the 15 ACSCs have been grouped into three categories: chronic (chronic lung disease [asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease combined], congestive heart failure, seizures, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension); acute (cellulitis, dehydration, bacterial pneumonia, urinary tract infections); and preventable conditions (influenza and malnutrition).

Overall, nearly 4 percent of Medicare beneficiaries were hospitalized for one of the chronic conditions. Black, American Indian/Alaska Native, and Hispanic beneficiaries had considerably higher than average percentages hospitalized for these chronic conditions – slightly more than 6, 5, and 4 percent, respectively. Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries had only 2 percent hospitalized, and almost 4 percent of White beneficiaries were hospitalized for these chronic conditions.

A very similar pattern held for the acute ACSC conditions. The average hospitalized for any of the acute conditions was 4 percent. Black and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had considerably higher than average percentages hospitalized – 6 and 5 percent,

respectively. The percentage of Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries hospitalized was least of all – only 2 percent. The percentages of White and Hispanic beneficiaries hospitalized were 4 percent, respectively, about the average for all groups combined.

There were too few hospitalizations for preventive ACSCs to say much of the differences among the racial/ethnic groups. However, to summarize our results we pooled all three types of ACSCs and found an even stronger pattern of differences in hospitalization for ACSCs than that already reported. There was an overall 7 percent of beneficiaries with a hospitalization for at least one ACSC. The percentage of Black and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries with a hospitalization for an ACSC was 11 and slightly more than10 percent, respectively. This compared to almost 5 percent among beneficiaries of Asian/Pacific Islander background. White and Hispanic beneficiaries had intermediate percentages hospitalized for ACSCs – 7 and almost 8 percent, respectively. While Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries appear to be an exception, the analysis points to racial/ethnic disparities in the use of hospital care for conditions that should be attenuated by the more timely use of the appropriate primary care.

Hospitalization for Selected Medical Conditions

We analyzed hospital utilization patterns among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries for six conditions during 2002. The conditions included heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, malignant neoplasms, diabetes, pneumonia, and fractures. Specifically, we compared the percentage of persons with each of the six diagnoses at discharge, the mean length of hospital stay per discharge in days, and the mean payments made per hospital user.

White beneficiaries had the highest percentage of hospital discharges with heart disease as a discharge diagnosis – 4.8 percent. The lowest was 2.2 percent, among Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries. Beneficiaries who were Black or American Indian/Alaska Native had 4.2 and 4.1 percent, respectively. Hispanics had the next lowest percentage of heart disease discharge diagnoses, 3.4 percent.

Whites and American Indians/Alaska Natives had the shortest average lengths of stay in the hospital for beneficiaries with a heart disease discharge -4.8 days for both. Blacks, Hispanics and Asians/Pacific Islanders had longer average stays with the same discharge diagnosis -5.3, 5.4, and 5.1 days, respectively.

While they had the lowest percentage of heart disease diagnoses by far, and less than the highest average length of hospital stay, the average payment made for Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries was by far the largest for any of the racial/ethnic groups, nearly \$12,000. Black beneficiaries had the lowest average payments made for their stays, just over \$8,400. The payments for White, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries ranged over a relatively narrow band from just over \$9,800 to just under \$9,200.

Black beneficiaries had the highest percentage of cerebrovascular discharge diagnoses – 1.4 percent. The lowest was reported for beneficiaries with Asian/Pacific Islander heritage – 0.8 percent. Hispanic and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had 1.0 percent, and Whites 1.2 percent.

White beneficiaries had the shortest average length of hospital stay -4.2 days - while those of Black and Asian/Pacific Islander background had the highest -5.7 days - a day and a half longer. Hispanic and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries fell in between at 5.2 and 4.7 days, respectively.

The highest average payment made for hospital discharges with a cerebrovascular diagnosis belonged to Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – nearly \$8,100. The lowest was reported for White beneficiaries – just slightly more than \$5,200. The remaining average payment amounts occurred along a narrow band ranging from \$5,600 to almost \$6,400, for the remaining racial/ethnic groups.

While the percentage of beneficiaries hospitalized with malignant neoplasms is very small, there is variation according to race/ethnicity and sex. Approximately 0.8 percent of White beneficiaries had a hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm. That was the highest percentage. The next highest was for Black beneficiaries, 0.7 percent. The lowest percentage was 0.5 and occurred among beneficiaries with Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander background. The next lowest was for American Indians/Alaska Natives, 0.6 percent. With respect to average length of hospital stay, Whites had the shortest stay – 5.9 days – while Black beneficiaries had the longest – 7.3 days. The other three racial/ethnic groups had average stays from 6.5 to 6.7 days.

The average payment per malignant neoplasm discharge diagnosis was highest for Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – more than \$14,400. Black beneficiaries had the second highest average payment for this diagnosis – more than \$11,600. The remaining racial/ethnic groups had fairly similar average payment amounts for their malignant neoplasm discharge, ranging from nearly \$10,300 to just over \$10,500.

Diabetes discharge diagnoses were relatively rare, but there was nonetheless considerable variation across the groups. The highest percentage of beneficiaries with a diabetes discharge diagnosis occurred among American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries -1.1 percent – while the lowest was among White and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – 0.3 percent. The percentages of Black and Hispanic beneficiaries with a hospitalization having a diabetes discharge diagnosis were 0.9 and 0.6, respectively.

There was less than a half day difference between the racial/ethnic group with the longest average length of stay for a diabetes diagnosis – American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries with 6.4 days – and the groups with the shortest average length of stay – Black and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries with 6.0 days. Whites and Hispanics fell between these groups with 6.1 and 6.2 days, respectively.

Average payments made for the hospital stay were lowest for White and Black beneficiaries -- \$6,700 and \$6,800, respectively. Average payments were highest for Asian/Pacific Islander and American Indian/Alaska Natives - \$8,100 - but Hispanics were right behind at an average of \$8,000.

While hospitalization for fractures was fairly infrequent for Medicare beneficiaries, there was considerable variation by race/ethnicity. While approximately 1.0 percent of White and

American Indian/Alaska Natives beneficiaries were hospitalized for fractures, hospitalization for fractures occurred about half that level -0.5 percent - for Black, Hispanic, and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries.

White beneficiaries had the shortest average length of stay for fractures – 5.5 days – about one day shorter than American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries. Hispanic beneficiaries had a half day longer average length of stay than Whites; Black and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries had more than three-quarters of a day longer average hospital stay than Whites.

The highest average payment for a hospital stay with a diagnosis of fracture was paid for Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – nearly \$8,700. Black beneficiaries had the second highest – more than \$8,100. White beneficiaries had the lowest average payment made for their fracture diagnosis hospital stay – just \$6,700. American Indian/Alaska Native and Hispanic beneficiaries had average payments made of \$7,400 and \$7,500, respectively, for their fracture hospitalizations.

Overall, only 1.1 percent of Medicare beneficiaries had a hospitalization with a discharge diagnosis of pneumonia, yet there was a very big difference in the percent with a discharge for pneumonia across the race/ethnic groups. The highest proportion was among American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries – 1.9 percent. The lowest percentage was less than half that amount – 0.7 percent – among Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries. Hispanic, White, and Black beneficiaries had about 1.1 percent hospitalized for this diagnosis.

Hispanic beneficiaries had the longest average length of hospital stay for discharge diagnoses of pneumonia – 6.6 days – while the shortest was experienced by American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries, a day and a half less. The remaining racial/ethnic groups had average stays arrayed between 5.7 and 6.4 days. Average payments for pneumonia discharge diagnoses was highest among Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries - \$7,500 – and lowest among White and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries – about \$5,300. Hispanic and Black beneficiaries were intermediate at \$6,000 and \$6,700 respectively.

We were not readily able to conclude anything definitive about racial/ethnic health care disparities from our analysis of hospital discharges for the selected diagnoses and their associated lengths of stay, except that there were differences between the racial/ethnic groups. Whether the differences in diagnoses reflect alternative diets or modes of treatment, genetic differences in susceptibility, differences in exposure risks, or a different quality of care being provided, we cannot say. One pattern that emerged, however, was that Asian/Pacific Islanders frequently had the highest annual average payments made for their care. It may be due to the higher prices that their providers charge or to a higher intensity of service being provided.

Types of Services

Medicare provides for treatment in different care settings and utilizing different kinds of care providers. We examined whether there were racial/ethnic group differences in the use of different types of services. The services included inpatient care, physician and other professional services, skilled nursing facility, home health care, durable medical equipment, and emergency department care.

Asian/Pacific Islander had the lowest percentage with hospitalizations – 10 percent – and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had the highest – 20 percent. Black, White, and Hispanic beneficiaries fell in between them with 18, 17, and 14 percent with hospital stays, respectively. The average payments made for persons with hospitalizations were highest for Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – more than \$12,900 – followed by Black, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries, at \$12,200, \$11,200, and \$11,000, respectively. White beneficiaries had the lowest average payments made per hospitalization, just over \$10,100.

Physician visits (regardless of where they occurred) were the most used Medicare covered service, and White beneficiaries had the highest percentage of beneficiaries having at least one visit – almost 79 percent – followed by Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries – more than 73 percent. Hispanic beneficiaries had the lowest percentage having a physician visit – less than 65 percent. Black and American Indian/Alaska native beneficiaries fell in between at 68 and 69 percent, respectively.

American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had the lowest average annual payments for physician services, only slightly more than \$400, followed by White beneficiaries at \$500. Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries had the highest average annual payments for physician services, both slightly more than \$600, and Black beneficiaries fell in between at an annual average amount paid of \$570.

Skilled nursing facilities were most often used by White and Black beneficiaries – by almost 6 percent of them. But less than 3 percent of Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries used the skilled nursing facility Medicare benefit. Just over 4 percent of American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries did the same. While American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had the lowest average annual amount of payments for skilled nursing facility services – almost \$4,800 – for the other racial/ethnic groups the average annual payments for skilled nursing facilities were clustered between \$5,300 and \$5,600.

Home health services were received by slightly more Medicare beneficiaries than received skilled nursing facility care. The highest percentages – 8 and 7 percent – were used by Black and Hispanic beneficiaries, respectively. Asian/Pacific Islander and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries were the least likely to use home health services – only 5 percent used these services. White beneficiaries using home health services fell in between these groups at 6 percent. The lowest average annual payments for persons using home health care were made for White and Hispanic beneficiaries, \$3,300 and \$3,500, respectively. The highest payments were made for beneficiaries in the Black, Asian/Pacific Islander, and American Indian/Alaska Native groups, between \$4,200 and \$4,300.

Durable medical equipment was used by 22 percent of Black and Hispanic beneficiaries. White and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries were almost as likely to use it at 20 and 19 percent, respectively). Beneficiaries of Asian/Pacific Islander background used these aides least, only 17 percent had a claim. There were considerable differences among the average annual payments for persons using durable medical equipment, with Hispanic beneficiaries having the largest average payment, almost \$700. White beneficiaries had the lowest annual average, not quite \$400, and the remaining racial/ethnic groups had payments of just slightly more than \$400.

There was considerable variation in the use of emergency rooms. Black and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries were the most common users of emergency room services, 26 and 27 percent, respectively, had at least one emergency room claim. Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries had the lowest level of emergency room use. Only slightly more than 13 percent of them had a claim for emergency room care. White and Hispanic beneficiaries had intermediate levels of emergency room use, 21 and 20 percent, respectively. Asian/Pacific Islander and Black beneficiaries had the highest average annual payments for use of the emergency room, more than \$700. American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries had the lowest, just slightly more than \$400. The average annual payments for White and Hispanic beneficiaries were just about \$600.

Our examination of the types of services used by Medicare beneficiaries according to race/ethnicity demonstrates that there are some rather large differences in the way the different racial/ethnic groups use their Medicare benefits. It is not possible to tell from the analyses we have done whether these differences are result of choices made along cultural lines to provide care for elders in alternative ways, an absence of a need for the services, limited availability of the services in their residential areas, or discrimination of some kind. From the analyses of the average annual payments across the types of services we observed that Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries, despite being low users of services as a group, fairly regularly had the highest payments made for the services they used. It is not possible to discern from our analysis whether this is the result of receiving services from high priced providers or having received fairly intensive (and therefore expensive) treatments.

CHAPTER 1 OVERVIEW

1.1 Overall Goal

This second part of the final report for this project contains our analysis of health services utilization among Medicare beneficiaries. The overall goal of the project was to identify racial/ethnic disparities in the utilization of Medicare services beyond those that have been identified between White and Black beneficiaries. To designate the race/ethnic group membership of beneficiaries, we used the improved Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander (A/PI) race/ethnicity coding algorithm that we developed and described in the first part of the final report for this project. The algorithm we developed uses Hispanic and A/PI surnames, common ethnic first names, residential location, and selected pieces of information from the Medicare enrollment data base (EDB). This report represents the first time that the health service claims of minority Medicare fee-for-service (FFS) beneficiaries have been presented using the codes generated by the algorithm.

1.2 Specific Objectives

We had several specific objectives in the conduct of this study. First, we documented from the literature, the existence of health status and disease rate differences among adult Medicare beneficiaries. These differences formed the basis for our expectations regarding the extent of disparities in the use of services; as all Medicare beneficiaries in the FFS option have similar coverage of their health care needs and expenses in the program, regardless of race/ethnicity. The possession of additional private or public insurance coverage could alter that because we would expect that added insurance would increase access to care and presumably its use by reducing its out of pocket cost, a financial barrier, even further.

Our second objective was to select a large, random, stratified sample of Medicare beneficiaries, weight them to represent the entire FFS option, and analyze their claims from 2002 by race/ethnicity for the use of (1) assorted global measures of utilization reported from the Medicare and Medicaid Supplement, (2) preventive services that involve screening for a chronic disease, (3) secondary preventive services for a chronic condition, (4) primary care to avoid hospitalizations for conditions that can be adequately managed on an ambulatory basis, (5) different types of covered services, and (6) hospital services for the treatment of common chronic and acute conditions.

Finally, we wanted to make the comprehensive tabular results of our complete analyses available to other researchers and policy makers. These tabular results present a variety of service-use measures separately by racial/ethnic group while controlling for beneficiary gender and age group. In addition, we were charged with selecting and presenting summary results in easy-to-understand graphics that highlight the most obvious examples of racial/ethnic disparities in services use that we found among Medicare beneficiaries. Our findings revealed racial/ethnic disparities in the incidence, prevalence and use of services to prevent, diagnosis, and treat a number of conditions. While our analyses do not explain why there are health care disparities in ways that could lead policy makers to recommend immediate interventions for their elimination, we hope that our analyses have identified areas of disparity that will be explored in greater depth in future research.

1.3 Organization of the Report

In Chapter 2, we provide the substantive context of this report. There, we discuss our reasons for examining service use by Medicare beneficiaries as a way of studying differential access to health services. We also explain a distinction we make between identifying differences in service utilization that may or may not have implications for the health of beneficiaries, and establishing the presence of disparities in access to care represented by differences in utilization that have been demonstrated or are generally considered to have an impact on health. We reserve the term "disparities" for these latter, and refer to the former as differences until there is evidence of health impact available. We conclude the chapter with a discussion of the prevalence and incidence of a variety of diseases, and disparities in health by race/ethnicity that are associated with differences in service utilization and that have been well documented in the published literature.

Chapter 3 provides a discussion of the methodology we used to perform the analyses that are the basis for this report. We describe the criteria used to construct the sampling frame from the Medicare EDB, and the process and outcome of selecting the random sample of almost two million Medicare beneficiaries stratified by the improved race/ethnicity variable that we created and added to the EDB. Further, we discuss the general principles underlying the determination of statistical significance among estimates of service utilization for the five racial/ethnic groups studied, and the age groups and sexes within them.

The results of this study are presented in Chapter 4. There are separate subsections devoted to each of the six areas described in Section 1.2. Each of these subsections provides a treetop view of differences in utilization according to race/ethnicity, and sometimes highlights where differences exist between the sexes or age groups, as well.

Finally, Chapter 5 provides an overall summary, discusses limitations and caveats, and ends with our thoughts on implications and recommendations. There are also seven Appendices. The first six contain the full set of tables from which each of the results sections were prepared. The final appendix describes how we created the utilization and other variables drawn from the Medicare claims we analyzed for our sample of beneficiaries.

CHAPTER 2 BACKGROUND

2.1 Assessing Access through Health Services Use: Racial/Ethnic Differences and Disparities

Given that preventive and treatment services can help reduce morbidity and mortality, failure to appropriately utilize such services at the appropriate time can have a potentially harmful impact on personal and population health status. Implicit to the appropriate and timely utilization of health services is having good access to the needed or desired care. The Institute of Medicine's report *Access to Health Care in America* (1993) defines access as "the timely use of personal health services to achieve the best possible health outcomes." Attaining good access to care entails (1) gaining entry into the health care system; (2) obtaining care within the system; and (3) identifying providers that meet individual patient needs. In the *2004 National Healthcare Disparities Report*, health care utilization serves as a measure of access to care in that it denotes the successful or unsuccessful receipt of services (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2004). Assessment of health care utilization is particularly helpful in identifying areas where differential access may exist in the provision of services to specific segments of the population, especially the disadvantaged and vulnerable, groups that include racial/ethnic minorities.

A number of terms are sometimes used interchangeably to describe differences in health and health care use by race/ethnicity including, but not limited to, "variations," "health disparities," "health care disparities," "biases," "inequality," "inequity," and "discrimination." Essential to the resolution and eradication of health disparities is a correct understanding of the terminology used to describe differences in health and health care use by race/ethnicity.

The National Institutes of Health defines health disparities as "differences in the incidence, prevalence, mortality, and burden of diseases and other adverse health conditions that exist among specific population groups in the United States" (National Institutes of Health, 2005). Carter-Pokras and Baquet (2002) note that a health disparity should be viewed as a "chain of events signified by a difference in (1) environment; (2) access to, utilization of, and quality of care; (3) health status; or (4) a particular health outcome that deserves scrutiny." Since what is unequal is not necessarily inequitable, the authors suggest that differences be evaluated in terms of both inequality and inequity. *Healthy People 2010* defines health disparities as "differences that occur by gender, race or ethnicity, education or income, disability, living in rural localities or sexual orientation" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2000). These definitions differ from that of health *care* disparities in that the latter is often used to describe differences in health care utilization or treatment. Hence, it may be inferred that health disparities may result from health care disparities.

While many use the concept of equal use as the standard for assessing racial/ethnic variations in health care, the concept assumes that there is equal need, preferences, and benefit across racial/ethnic groups and that patients have access to high-quality, necessary care (Rathore and Krumholz, 2004; Balsa and McGuire, 2001). Chang (2002) denotes equality as an *empirical* concept that can be measured, and equity in health as a *normative* concept that primarily pertains to placing a value judgment on whether health status is equal or unequal among individuals and

groups. Chang further elaborates that variations in health status will always exist among individuals given inherent biological differences and physical environments, but that efforts should focus on the goal of providing and enhancing opportunities for all individuals to attain their "optimal" health given their potential. As noted by Braveman and Gruskin (2003), everyone should have an equal opportunity to be healthy. Inequality is associated with the "condition of being unequal" while inequity is defined as "unfairness, injustice" (American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 2000) and has a moral and ethical component alluding to differences that are unnecessary and avoidable (Whitehead, 2004). Equality can be assessed by measuring outcomes whereas determining whether or not there is inequity is more open to interpretation (Braveman and Gruskin, 2003).

Rathore and Krumholz (2004) define an equitable distribution of health care as one in which "clinical need is the primary determinant of equal opportunities for patients to use health care resources." The authors posit a 3-tiered framework (difference, disparity, bias) for classifying differences in health care use. The first tier, *differences*, reflects observed racial variations in health care use. *Disparities* can encompass differences if the variations in use are associated with poorer clinical outcomes and indicate shortfalls in appropriate care that are not attributable to patient factors. Financial barriers, being uninsured, and treatment by poorer-quality providers are all factors that may contribute to poorer quality of care. The authors present five criteria for use in determining whether variations in treatment by race can be classified as disparities in treatment: eligibility for testing/procedures; clinical exclusion due to treatment contraindications; patient preferences; confounding (e.g. adjustment for demographic, clinical, and social characteristics); and consequence/patient outcomes. *Racial bias* in health care use is introduced when there is differential provision of appropriate care to patients primarily due to race. This hypothesis is strengthened once it is determined that disparities are not traceable to health system factors (e.g., type of hospital where the patient was treated).

As noted by Gornick, Eggers, and Riley (2004), having health insurance and a regular source of care are necessary but insufficient conditions for eliminating disparities in access to care. Mitigating the disparities in health outcomes will entail a greater understanding of beneficiary and provider behaviors and the driving factors behind the behaviors. Given the current lack of a widely accepted framework for interpreting reports of racial differences in health care utilization, use of several terms interchangeably to describe racial differences in treatment can lead to multiple interpretations of the data and have a profound impact on policy. A consistent operational definition and measurable outcomes are needed so that accountability and equality may be better monitored.

2.2 A Selective Review of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities

Eliminating health disparities is one of the two overarching goals of Healthy People 2010 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2000). A major component of this goal includes eliminating differences in health status and risk factors that occur by race or ethnicity. Eradicating such disparities remains a high priority for federal policymakers as racial and ethnic minority groups currently experiencing poorer health status continue to grow as a proportion of total U.S. population (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2004). Demographic projections indicate that minorities are expected to grow at a much more rapid rate than Whites (Day, 1996). In 2000, non-Hispanic Whites comprised 69.1 percent of the U.S. population; non-

Hispanic Blacks, American Indians, Asians, Hispanics, and Other comprised 30.9 percent of the population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2001). Estimates reveal that by 2050, Hispanics and Asians will have doubled their population compared to 2000; racial/ethnic minorities will comprise nearly 50 percent of the total U.S. population (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2004; Kaiser Family Foundation, 2003).

Given the poorer health status of racial and ethnic minority groups in the United States, providing greater access to care to these groups is a critical component to achieving a healthy nation, particularly since access to care may increase utilization of preventive health services (Sambamoorthi and McAlpine, 2003). A study examining associations of race, education, and patterns of preventive service use found that for the majority of services, utilization of preventive services was significantly lower for Blacks than for Whites. Compared to Whites, a higher proportion of Blacks used no preventive services in the 24-month period prior to cancer diagnosis across all cancers examined in the study: male bladder, male stomach, breast, male and female colorectal, prostate, uterine, and ovarian (Gornick, Eggers, and Riley, 2004). Consequently, the harmful effects of racial/ethnic disparities in health care may be magnified in the long run unless improvements are made in the health status of these growing segments of the population.

In 2004, U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS), Tommy Thompson created the HHS Council on Health Disparities to ensure that HHS efforts are aligned with the goal of "enhancing and expanding the Department's role in reducing health disparities" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2004). Other notable efforts aimed at reducing health disparities include programs such as REACH (Racial and Ethnic Approaches to Community and Health) 2010, a program launched in 1999 intended to eliminate health disparities in six priority areas: cardiovascular disease, immunizations, breast and cervical cancer screening and management, diabetes, HIV/AIDS, and infant mortality.

A key step in the process of eliminating racial/ethnic health disparities is determining potential causes and contributing factors to the problem. Several barriers exist that can prevent patients from accessing appropriate care, including, but not limited to financial barriers, lack of transportation, physical distance, lack of information or education, cultural differences and biases, high-risk behaviors, treatment aggressiveness, compliance with treatment, patient-provider relationships, and inadequate insurance coverage (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2002; National Cancer Institute, 2004; Bradley, Given, and Roberts, 2001; Siegal, May, and Burstin, 2004). However, mounting evidence, such as that presented in the Institute of Medicine report *Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Healthcare*, reveals that even after accounting for differences in characteristics such as income, insurance coverage, age, and other characteristics often associated with disparities, health disparities among the different racial and ethnic groups are substantial (Smedley, Stith and Nelson , 2003; Siegal, May, and Burstin, 2004).

Racial/ethnic disparities have been documented across a range of health conditions in various medical settings, including hospital, ambulatory care, and community settings (Mayberry, Mili, and Ofili, 2000; Virnig et al., 2002). Below, we highlight key findings of health disparities by race/ethnicity.

2.2.1 Blacks

Blacks carry the highest cancer burden among all racial and ethnic groups in the United States with an incidence rate that is approximately 10 percent higher than that of Whites, 50 to 60 percent higher than those of Hispanics and Asian/Pacific Islanders, and more than twice that of American Indians. Blacks have higher mortality rates than Whites for colorectal, male lung, female breast, and prostate cancers. The mortality rate from all cancers combined for Blacks is roughly 30 percent higher than among Whites and more than double the rates in Asian/Pacific Islanders, Hispanics, and American Indians (Jemal et al., 2003). Moreover, most cancers detectable through screening are diagnosed at later stages and have poorer survival probability within each stage of disease among Blacks as compared with Whites (Ghafoor et al., 2002). Jemal et al. (2003) found that Blacks have lower 5-year survival rates than Whites for most types of cancer at each stage of diagnosis. Five-year survival rates after a cancer diagnosis in the United States between 1995 and 2000 were 66 percent for Whites and 55 percent for Blacks.

Black men have earlier onset of prostate cancer, higher prostate-specific antigen (PSA) levels, twice the risk of having a diagnosis of advanced prostate cancer, and higher mortality rates compared to White men (Thompson, et al., 2001; Hoffman, et al., 2001; Godley et al., 2003, Freedland and Isaacs, 2005). In 1999, prostate cancer incidence was 58 percent higher in Black men than in White men. Although the mortality rate from prostate cancer in Black men has been decreasing by 2.5 percent per year, Black males still have the highest mortality rate from the disease (Ghafoor et al., 2002). Multiple reasons have been theorized to explain this disparity, including the larger proportion of cancers diagnosed at advanced stages compared to Whites (Shavers et al., 2004; Hoffman et al., 2001), low early screening rates (Gilligan et al., 2004, Freedland and Isaacs, 2005), and treatment differentials (Klabunde et al., 1998; Shavers et al., 2002; Harlan et al., 2001).

Compounding the problem is the fact that elderly Blacks are substantially less likely to undergo screening than elderly Whites when age, socioeconomic status, and comorbid conditions are controlled for (Gilligan et al., 2004). Even after diagnosis of prostate cancer, Black men are significantly less likely to obtain annual PSA examinations, which can result in later detection of cancer recurrences (Freedland and Isaacs, 2005; Zeliadt et al., 2003). Regarding initial management of treatment, several studies have noted that Black men disproportionately receive conservative management through hormonal therapy alone or watchful waiting compared to Whites (Shavers et al., 2002; Harlan et al., 2001; Klabunde et al., 1998). Black men diagnosed with prostate cancer are 16 to 30 percent less likely than Whites to undergo prostatectomy (Klabunde et al., 1998; Gilligan et al., 2004; Harlan et al., 1995; Imperato, Nenner, and Will, 1996), and are significantly more likely than Whites to receive watchful waiting/conservative symptomatic management, which is considered to be appropriate for men diagnosed with early-stage prostate cancer and those with a life expectancy of less than 10 years (Harlan et al., 2001; Shavers et al., 2004).

In 2000, colorectal cancer mortality rates were highest among Black men and women (35.2 and 24.0 percent, respectively), followed by White (24.6 percent for men, 17.1 percent for women), Hispanic (18.2 percent for men, 11.6 percent for women), American Indian/Alaska Native (17.3 percent for men; 10.7 percent for women), and Asian/Pacific Islander men and women (16.4 and 10 percent, respectively). Colorectal cancer mortality rates among Black men

were approximately 1.4 times higher than White men and 2.1 times higher than Asian/Pacific Islander men (35.2 versus 16.4 percent) in 2000. Among women, colorectal cancer mortality rates were approximately 1.4 times higher among Black women compared with White women and 2.4 times higher than the rate among Asian/Pacific Islander women (Stewart et al., 2004).

Lower colorectal cancer screening and surveillance is one potential reason for higher colorectal cancer incidence and mortality observed in Blacks compared with Whites (Ghafoor et al., 2002; Jemal et al., 2003; Cooper and Koroukian, 2004). Differences in the use of colorectal procedures and indications for colorectal testing when comparing Blacks and Whites are consistent with a delay in diagnosis until development of symptoms or signs and may contribute to disparities in cancer mortality (Cooper and Koroukian, 2004). While mortality rates from colorectal cancer declined in Blacks between 1992 and 2001, the average annual percentage reduction in mortality rates was smaller in Blacks than in Whites (0.7 percent and 1.9 percent, respectively) (Ries et al., 2004).

Differences in breast cancer screening and mortality by race are striking. Although breast cancer is the most common cancer among Black women, the newly diagnosed incidence rate is 13 percent lower than in White women. Yet, while Black women experience a lower breast cancer incidence rate compared to White women, their mortality rate from the disease is 28 percent higher than that of White women (Ghafoor et al., 2002). In 2000, breast cancer mortality rates among Black women were approximately 1.3 times higher than those of White women, and 2.8 times higher than those of Asian/Pacific Islander women (Stewart et al., 2004). Several factors may contribute to this racial differential, including differences in treatment (Shavers and Brown, 2002; Griggs et al., 2003; Mandelblatt et al., 2002) and latter stage at diagnosis (Bradley, Given et al., 2001; Joslyn and West, 2000; McCarthy et al., 1998; Fiscella, Franks, and Meldrum, 2004).

A study examining racial differences in diagnosis, treatment, and clinical delays in patients with newly diagnosed breast cancer found that Black women were more likely than White women to have extended diagnosis, treatment, and clinical delays. The odds of Black women ages 20 to 54 experiencing diagnosis delays of one to two months and more than two months as opposed to a delay of less than one month were 1.51 and 1.86 times, respectively, the odds for White women in the same age group (Gwyn et al., 2004). Several studies note that Black women have less early-stage breast disease and more advanced-stage breast disease compared to White women (Chu, Lamar, et al., 2003; McCarthy et al., 1998; Joslyn and West, 2000).

Racial disparities are also apparent in long-term mortality among elderly cardiac arrest survivors. Groeneveld et al. (2003) found that Black survivors of cardiac arrest ages 66 to 74 years had a lower probability of receiving potentially life-saving cardiac procedures and had reduced long-term survival compared to elderly White survivors of cardiac arrest, despite adjustment for socioeconomic differences, comorbidities, admission characteristics, clinical events, and hospital factors. Disparities are also evident in the prevalence and receipt of services for diabetes. Minority populations carry a much greater burden of diabetes compared with Whites. In 1999, 67.3 percent of Medicare managed-care beneficiaries with diabetes received an annual eye exam, 79.9 percent underwent hemoglobin determination, and 73.5 percent underwent LDL cholesterol determination (Virnig et al., 2002). Significantly lower rates

were found among Black Medicare beneficiaries (61.6, 74.6, and 64.5 percent, respectively) compared with White beneficiaries (67.4, 80.2, and 73.7 percent, respectively). Asians and Pacific Islanders had the highest rates while Hispanics and Whites had similar rates for the three services (McBean et al., 2003).

2.2.2 American Indians/Alaskan Natives (AI/ANs)

Although American Indians/Alaska Natives (AI/ANs) comprise approximately 0.9 percent of the United States population (Grieco and Cassidy, 2001), they are burdened with greater health risk factors and a higher incidence of several chronic diseases.

Heart disease and cancer are the two leading causes of death among AI/ANs (National Center for Health Statistics, 2004). An analysis of data from nine SEER Program areas indicated that AI/ANs had the lowest survival rates for prostate, lung, breast, and for all cancers combined, with similar survival rates among Blacks for prostate and breast cancers (Clegg, et al., 2002). AI/ANs also carry a disproportionate burden of disease and have a higher mortality rate from diabetes compared to the general population (Denny, Holtzman, and Cobb, 2003). AI/ANs are 2.3 times more likely to have diabetes compared to non-Hispanic Whites of similar age (National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, 2004). According to data from the REACH 2010 Risk Factor Survey, the median percentage of men reporting ever having been told that they have diabetes ranged from 5.3 percent in Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander populations to 16.2 percent in American Indian communities. Excluding gestational diabetes, the median prevalence of diabetes among women ranged from 4.7 percent in Asian/Pacific Islander communities to 19.5 percent in American Indian communities (Liao et al., 2004). Pima Indians residing in Arizona are reported to have the highest diabetes prevalence in the world (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2004).

Regarding screening for chronic disease, AI/AN women are more likely to report never having had a Pap test compared to women of other racial/ethnic groups (10.3 percent vs. 6.1 percent) (Denny, Holtzman, and Cobb, 2003). AI/AN women also have the highest proportion of abnormal Pap tests among women on their first screening test (Benard et al., 2001). However, AI/ANs are less likely to report never having been tested for HIV infection compared to other racial ethnic groups (50.5 percent vs. 55.8 percent). Baseline data from the REACH 2010 Risk Factor Survey indicated that AI/ANs have the highest prevalence of obesity, current smoking, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes among all the racial/ethnic groups (Liao et al., 2003).

2.2.3 Asians/Pacific Islanders (A/PIs)

Over the past 2 decades, Asians/Pacific Islanders (A/PIs) have become the fastestgrowing racial/ethnic minority population in the United States (Liao et al., 2004). According to the 2000 Census, A/PIs comprise 3.6 percent of the United States population. Between 1975 and 2001, incidence rates for stomach, liver, and thyroid (women only) cancers were higher in A/PI populations than in other racial/ethnic populations (Jemal, Clegg, et al., 2004). During the years 1997-2001, incidence rates of stomach cancer among A/PIs were more than double those of Whites (American Cancer Society, 2005). Moreover, one study found that a substantially lower percentage of A/PIs reported receiving preventive services (e.g., mammograms, pap tests, vaccination for influenza and pneumonia among adults \geq 65 years, cholesterol screenings, glycosylated hemoglobin tests, and foot exams for patients with diabetes), compared with the general U.S. population (Liao, et al., 2004). This may relate to findings indicating that Asian Americans are less likely to receive counseling and report positive interactions with their physicians compared to Whites. Asian Americans are also less likely to be very satisfied with their care and to have a great deal of trust in their physician (Ngo-Metzger, Legedza, and Phillips, 2004).

2.2.4 Hispanics

According to the 2000 Census, 35.3 million persons (12.5 percent) in the United States identified themselves as Hispanic. During the years 1998-2002, this rapidly growing segment of the population had an age-adjusted diabetes prevalence that was approximately twice that among non-Hispanic Whites (9.8 percent versus 5.0 percent) (Burrows et al., 2004). Moreover, cervical cancer incidence and mortality rates are higher among Hispanics (incidence, 16.2 percent; mortality, 3.6 percent) than non-Hispanic Whites (incidence, 8.9 percent; mortality, 2.6 percent) (American Cancer Society, 2005). Data from the 2001-2002 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey (BRFSS) indicated that Hispanic respondents are significantly less likely to be screened for breast, cervical, and colorectal cancers; to receive a pneumococcal vaccination and influenza vaccination within the previous year; and to be screened for blood cholesterol compared to non-Hispanic respondents. The data also revealed that Hispanics were significantly less likely to have health care coverage (76.2 percent vs. 90.6 percent), have one or more regular personal health care providers (68.5 percent vs. 84.1 percent), or have a regular place of care (93.4 percent vs. 96.2 percent), compared to non-Hispanics (Balluz, Okoro, and Strine, 2004).

Between 1999 and 2002, the age-adjusted prevalence of hypertension was 25.1 percent among Mexican Americans. Among adults with hypertension, Mexican Americans had lower age-adjusted rates of treatment (34.9 percent) and control (17.3 percent), compared to Whites (treatment, 48.6 percent; control, 29.8 percent) and Blacks (treatment, 55.4 percent; control, 29.8 percent). Inadequate attention by providers and a lack of access to healthcare services have been associated with barriers to prevention and control of hypertension. (Glover et al., 2005). In 2002, Hispanics experienced more age-adjusted years of potential life lost before age 75 per 100,000 population than non-Hispanic Whites for the following causes of death: stroke (14 percent more), chronic liver disease and cirrhosis (56 percent), diabetes (33 percent), human immunodeficiency virus (164 percent), and homicide (188 percent) (National Center for Health Statistics, 2004).

2.2.5 Conclusion

Identification of inequalities in screening and treatment for minorities are a source of concern because numerous studies attribute racial disparities in health care, particularly cancer, to underutilization of screening, delays in diagnosis, and resulting advanced stage of disease at diagnosis among minorities (Shavers and Brown, 2002; McMahon et al., 1999; Cooper and Koroukian, 2004; Ghafoor et al., 2002). Such disparities in health are particularly alarming because research findings suggest that when minorities receive treatment equal to Whites, they tend to have similar disease outcomes (Shavers and Brown, 2002; Velanovich et al., 1999; Dignam et al., 1999; Iselin et al., 1998). Freedlund and Isaacs (2004) found that when active prostate cancer screening protocols are initiated in Black communities, detected cancers that are discovered early and the tumor characteristics are comparable to those detected among screened

White men. Hence, significantly more effort and resources are needed to educate, generate awareness, and promote the benefits of early screening. Another key component to eradicating racial disparities in health care will involve enhancing the quality and satisfaction of patient-physician interactions, particularly among Asians/Pacific Islanders and Hispanics, given the findings that these populations express lower levels of satisfaction with care (Johnson et al., 2004). Improving patient satisfaction may yield greater utilization of preventive services among minority groups currently bearing a disproportionate burden of chronic diseases.

CHAPTER 3 METHODS

3.1 Selection of the Study Sample from the EDB

We used the full 10 segments of the unloaded EDB that we received from CMS in mid-2003 to build the sampling frame of persons eligible for this study. To be eligible for inclusion in the sample, beneficiaries must have been enrolled in traditional fee-for-service (FFS) Medicare (Part A, Part B, or both) for the full 12 months of the 2002 calendar year and not have been enrolled in a Group Health Organization at all during the 2002 calendar year. In addition, beneficiaries must have been alive for the full 12 months of calendar year 2002. We set these criteria to allow the maximum opportunity (period of time) for beneficiaries to submit claims documenting their use of preventive services, one of the key foci of this study.

Table 1 presents a distribution of the beneficiaries in the EDB eligible for the sample by their NEWRACE (their race/ethnicity code resulting from the use of the algorithm we developed) and by EDBRACE (their race/ethnicity code on the EDB before using the algorithm, respectively.

NEWRACE	Frequency	EDBRACE	Frequency
White	25,907,883	White	27,091,613
Black	3,025,397	Black	3,087,034
Hispanic	2,081,123	Hispanic	730,147
Asian/Pacific Islander (A/PI)	592,010	Asian	453,950
American Indian/Alaska Native			
(AI/AN)	121,024	North American Native	122,156
Other	183,242	Other	412,198
Unknown	61,567	Unknown	75,148
Total	31,972,246	Total	31,972,246

Table 1Distribution of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries believed eligible
for the study sample by NEWRACE and EDBRACE

Source: EDBRACE is from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003 and NEWRACE is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003.

We had originally proposed to select a stratified random sample in which 100 percent of the Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander (A/PI), and American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN), along with 20 percent of the Black and two percent of the White Medicare beneficiaries who were eligible would be selected to produce study estimates of health care utilization derived from claims. However, after applying the surname algorithm we developed to the full 10 segments of the unloaded EDB, it was apparent that there were very large increases in the number of beneficiaries classified as Hispanic and a considerable increase in the number of beneficiaries classified as A/PI. Because of these increases, we could no longer sample 100 percent of the Hispanics and A/PIs and still keep the study sample at two million beneficiaries.

Since our primary sampling goal was always to have sufficient sample size to provide equally accurate and precise estimates of health care utilization estimates for different racial/ethnic groups, we adjusted the sampling rates so that, to the extent possible, the same number of Medicare beneficiaries across the different racial/ethnic groups would be sampled. We adjusted the sampling rates such that, based on the NEWRACE code, 11 percent of the Black, 1.2 percent of the White, 26 percent of the Hispanic, 71 percent of the A/PI, and 100 percent of AI/AN, Other, and Unknown were sampled. These sampling rates produced the sample presented according to NEWRACE and EDBRACE in Table 2 below.

Table 2			
Distribution of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries selected for the study sample			
by NEWRACE and EDBRACE			

NEWRACE	Frequency	EDBRACE	Frequency
White	333,334	White	658,279
Black	333,334	Black	350,879
Hispanic	545,643	Hispanic	191,402
Asian/Pacific Islander	421,859	Asian	312,785
American Indian/Alaska Native	121,024	North American Native	121,496
Other	183,242	Other	299,015
Unknown	61,567	Unknown	66,147
Total	2,000,003	Total	2,000,003

Source: EDBRACE is from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003 and NEWRACE is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003.

White and Black beneficiaries have the same size sample, while AI/AN, Other, and Unknown have fewer and Hispanic and A/PI have slightly more. We sampled 100 percent of the AI/AN, Other, and Unknown beneficiaries and therefore could not get any closer to the White and Black totals. In the case of Hispanic and A/PI beneficiaries, however, we increased their allocation in the sample slightly because we wanted the estimates to be as close to equally precise across the race/ethnicity categories when the NEWRACE code was used rather than the EDBRACE. (The number of A/PIs and Hispanics would have dropped whenever the EDBRACE code was used instead of the NEWRACE and so would the precision of the estimates; therefore, we decided to sample more A/PIs and Hispanics).

After the sample we intended to use to examine disparities in utilization from claims was selected, we cross-referenced it with CMS's denominator file as a final check on eligibility and discovered that slightly less than two percent of the selected sample, spread proportionately across the racial/ethnic groups, did not meet all of our desired sample eligibility criteria – alive and enrolled in FFS Medicare for the entire year. To correct this, we identified and discarded the ineligibles from the sample and recalculated the weights of the remaining sample to correctly represent the intended population of eligible Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. Table 3 presents the final number of sampled beneficiaries by NEWRACE and EDBRACE.

NEWRACE	Frequency	EDBRACE	Frequency
White	329,954	White	647,653
Black	328,246	Black	345,559
Hispanic	534,196	Hispanic	187,920
Asian/Pacific Islander	415,190	Asian	308,890
American Indian/Alaska Native	120,557	North American Native	121,025
Other	171,032	Other	283,603
Unknown	60,946	Unknown	65,471
Total	1,960,121	Total	1,960,121

Table 3 Distribution of final study sample of selected Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries by NEWRACE and EDBRACE

Source: EDBRACE is from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003 and NEWRACE is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003.

Table 4 contains the distribution of the weighted number of Medicare beneficiaries contained in the EDB who are represented by the sample distributed by the NEWRACE and EDBRACE variables.

NEWRACE	Frequency	EDBRACE	Frequency
White	25,645,178	White	26,779,400
Black	2,979,217	Black	3,053,618
Hispanic	2,037,463	Hispanic	720,664
Asian/Pacific Islander	582,651	Asian	449,914
American Indian/Alaska Native	120,557	North American Native	121,818
Other	171,032	Other	397,030
Unknown	60,946	Unknown	74,600
Total	31,597,044	Total	31,597,044

Table 4Distribution of weighted study sample of Medicare beneficiaries by
NEWRACE and EDBRACE

Source: EDBRACE is from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003 and NEWRACE is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries from the Medicare EDB from mid-2003.

3.2 Assessment of Statistical Significance

This report includes appendices of tables containing counts (e.g., numbers of services and numbers of users); means (e.g., lengths of stay and dollars per person); and percentages (e.g. persons receiving the service). We also discuss, in Chapter 4, the percentage (or proportion) of use and report how these percentages vary across race/ethnicity and within race/ethnicity across gender and age. We have chosen not to routinely perform statistical tests of significance for differences between race/ethnic groups or subgroups. There are several reasons for this decision.

First, the stratified sample design we employed ensured that beneficiaries in small minority groups (e.g., Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander in particular) were adequately represented by over-sampling the minority group strata and making them as close as possible to equal in size to the number of White beneficiaries, the largest racial group in Medicare. Second, the total size of the sample from which these tables were created is extremely large (nearly two million members), and the standard errors of estimate are extremely small as a result. Even considering the increase in variance due to the unequal weighting effects that occur when racial/ethnic groups are combined to create estimates for the total Medicare fee-for-service population, the variation for the estimates from such a large sample is very small. It should be noted that there is no increase in variance due to the unequal weighting for estimates and comparisons within racial/ethnic strata, and that those are the estimates that constitute the majority of our analysis (i.e., all the other estimates aside from the program totals).

Finally, given the very small standard errors, most differences will be statistically significant. Thus, the decision is more of a substantive one about which differences are worthy of receiving attention as potentially reflecting in some reasonable way limited access to care that produces health disparities between racial/ethnic groups. However, to help readers of this report to distinguish between insignificant and significant results, we have created standard error graphs of percentages for the overall race/ethnicity comparisons, as well as of age and gender comparisons within race/ethnicity. We have also included examples of how to use the standard error to create confidence intervals around estimates and how to use confidence intervals for testing differences between two percentages.

Figure 1 illustrates the standard errors for percentages as they increase from five to 50 percent. The standard errors for percentages are a function of sample size and the estimated percentage. As the estimated percentage approaches 50 percent, the standard error increases, and as the sample size increases, the standard error decreases. For example, Hispanic beneficiaries (when using the NEWRACE coding) comprise the largest number in our sample of roughly two million beneficiaries; therefore, their standard error line in the graph is the lowest, ranging from 0.03 (when estimating percentages close to five) to 0.07 (when estimating percentages close to 50). In comparison, the Unknown group has the smallest sample size and also has the highest standard errors. The standard errors for percentages for this group range from 0.08 to 0.20.

A useful way to use standard errors is to create a confidence interval at the desired level of confidence for the estimate of interest. For example, we estimate from our sample that 20.14 percent of Black beneficiaries have diabetes. Using Figure 1, we can approximate the 95 percent confidence interval for this estimate. First, we determine the standard error at 20 percent for Blacks to be about 0.07. Then, using the formula for a 95 percent confidence interval for a percentage ($20.14 + - 1.96 \times 0.07$), we solve the equation to determine our lower bound on the estimate to be 20.00 and upper bound on the estimate to be 20.28. With repeated sampling we would expect the estimated percentage of Black beneficiaries with diabetes to fall within 20.00 and 20.28 nineteen times out of twenty.

Figure 1 Standard error of percentage estimates by race/ethnicity of beneficiaries



Our sample also estimates that 11.49 percent of White beneficiaries have diabetes. Suppose a comparison between the percentage of Whites and Blacks with diabetes was desired. A test of this comparison can be made by placing a 95 percent confidence interval around the percentage difference between the estimates for the two groups and establishing whether the confidence interval includes zero (indicating no difference). First, calculate the percentage difference by subtracting the two estimates to be compared; 20.14-11.49 = 8.65. Next, using Figure 1, approximate the standard error for both estimates; 0.07 for Blacks and 0.05 for Whites.¹ Then, using the formula for a 95 percent confidence interval for a difference between percentages ($8.65 + -1.96 * \sqrt{0.07^2 + 0.05^2}$), we calculate the upper and lower bounds of the difference in the percentage of Black and White beneficiaries with diabetes to fall between these bounds 19 out of 20 times. Clearly, since these bounds do not include zero, the difference is statistically significant at the 95 percent confidence level.

¹ The standard error line for Whites is difficult to see because it is covered by the Black standard error line. Whites and Blacks have roughly the same sample size allocation; therefore, their standard errors are very similar.

Figures 2 through Figures 8 present similar standard error curves for percentages partitioned by age and sex for each race/ethnicity. These curves are used when comparing age or gender for a specific race or across specific races. For example, these curves are used when comparing percentages of Black females with diabetes to Hispanic females with diabetes. Another example would be comparing diabetes among Black females to Black males.



Figure 2 Standard error of percentage estimates by age and gender for White beneficiaries
Figure 3 Standard error of percentage estimates by age and gender for Black beneficiaries



Figure 4 Standard error of percentage estimates by age and gender for Hispanic beneficiaries



Figure 5 Standard error of percentage estimates by age and gender for Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries



Figure 6 Standard error of percentage estimates by age and gender for American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries





Figure 7 Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for beneficiaries with Other race/ethnicity

Figure 8 Standard error of percent estimates by age and gender for beneficiaries with Unknown race/ethnicity



3.3 Reporting Results for the American Indian/Alaska Native Beneficiaries

From the work we completed and reported on in an earlier part of this project (Task 2), in which we compared self-reported race/ethnicity to the EDB-reported race/ethnicity for over 830,000 beneficiaries who responded to one of the Medicare satisfaction surveys (CAHPS), we estimated that the EDB listing of race/ethnicity only captures about 36 percent of the AI/AN group. Given this high level of under-identification of AI/AN beneficiaries in the EDB, we are aware that results based on calculations using claims presented in this report for the AI/AN category may be biased because they are based solely on EDB-reported race. Clearly, if only a fraction of the AI/AN beneficiaries are represented as such on the EDB, then all estimates of the total number of dollars, days, and beneficiaries for the AI/AN group will be too low. We caution everyone not to use these counts at all, unless they are inflated (weighted) in some reasonable way.

However, we believe, based on analyses we performed in Part 1 of this report, that the situation with percentages, proportions, rates, and means is different than with the total amounts and number counts. We believe they can be useful if reported and used judiciously. Because we had a substantial sample of AI/AN beneficiaries (more than 1,100 self-identified from the 2000 and 2001 CAHPS surveys) for which we had both a self-reported race/ethnicity and the one recorded on the EDB (only 370 of which were identified as AI/AN), we were able to compare percentages, proportions, and means using the two different designations for AI/AN beneficiaries. Further, we did this for a large number of the same measures we are analyzing in the current report. As a result of this analysis, we have some insight into the direction and magnitude of any likely bias. We are confident that with the large number of AI/AN representatives in the current analyses, however, the biases will be reasonably small, since the inclusion/exclusion criteria for AI/AN beneficiaries to be included in the EDB are most likely related to where they reside (tribal lands or not) and not their use of health services.

Our analysis showed that some of the EDB-based estimates of AI/AN percentages and means were very close to the AI/AN estimate based on the CAHPS self-reported race/ethnicity and thus were unbiased (or relatively so). We found this to be true when we compared proportions with a condition, percentages using particular services, mean payments in dollars, and mean lengths of stay. To judge the level of bias, we calculated a ratio of the estimate in question based on the claims data for the CAHPS self-reported AI/AN beneficiaries and divided it by the same estimate for those identified as AI/AN on the EDB. Ratio values of less than 1.00 implied that the EDB race code for AI/AN overstated the estimate, whereas ratios above 1.00 suggested that EDB race code understated the estimate.

The ratios for numbers of persons, dollars, or days were regularly around 3 to 5, reflecting our estimate that the EDB was only identifying slightly more than one-third of selfidentified AI/AN beneficiaries. The ratios of the means and proportions for self-reported AI/AN beneficiaries to EDB-reported AI/AN, on the other hand, generally ranged from .85 to 1.34. There were some higher and lower ratios, but in almost every case, they happened because the behavior being estimated occurred rarely and the EDB-identified sample on which the estimate was based was extremely small (almost always fewer than 50 cases, and often 20 or fewer cases), making the estimate of this rare behavior highly unstable and potentially biased. With the much larger sample of AI/AN beneficiaries from the EDB (over 120,000), we expected that the estimates for AI/AN, even of the rare events, would be based on larger samples and have smaller variation, making them more stable, and less biased.

We are aware of this limitation, but feel that presenting the information for AI/AN beneficiaries is more useful than having no data because it presents another point of comparison. We feel the means, proportions, and percentages, although likely still not absolutely accurate, provide useful working estimates that are within reasonable sight of the value of interest and are worthy of consideration by researchers and policy makers concerned with the issue of disparities in health and health care utilization. Persons who do not accept this viewpoint may feel free to ignore the AI/AN data that are reported.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

4.1 An Overview of Selected Utilization Measures in Traditional Fee-for-Service Medicare: 2002

As part of this project, we were charged with reproducing a set of tables from the Health Care Financing Review Medicare and Medicaid Statistical Supplement for the year 2000², but using Medicare administrative data for the year 2002. Many of those tables included breakdowns by demographic characteristics, including race, taken from the enrollment database (EDB). We produced those tables using 2002 Medicare claims data and the race/ethnicity variable resulting from applying the algorithm to the mid-2003 EDB. The range of values for race in the original tables from the Supplement was recoded from the EDB into White, Black, and Other. Instead of the limited race/ethnicity coding in the original tables, however, we produced one table that included all beneficiaries combined regardless of race, plus separate tables for each of the five race/ethnicity groups – White, Black, Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander (A/PI), and American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN) that have been the focus of this project³. We have reproduced those tables, modifying them slightly,⁴ and have included them in Appendix A. We have extracted data from those tables to produce the graphics used in this chapter to illustrate racial/ethnic and other differences in health services utilization by Medicare beneficiaries.

Again, as we indicated in an earlier chapter on the selection of the sample of nearly two million Medicare beneficiaries we analyzed, only (1) those enrolled in fee-for-service Medicare (Part A, Part B, or both) for the entire calendar year 2002 and (2) alive for the entire calendar year 2002 were eligible for selection. The sample was then weighted to produce estimates for the entire population of Medicare beneficiaries meeting these eligibility criteria. We estimate the number of such beneficiaries to have been 31.6 million in 2002. This weighted estimate is the basis for this report.

² While the title on the volume of the Health Care Financing Review Medicare and Medicaid Statistical Supplement 2000 indicates it is the report for the year 2000, the data contained in the report are for the year 1998. The tables we reproduced from the 2000 Supplement were selected in part because they included the EDB race/ethnicity variable. The tables we reproduced from the Supplement with the new race/ethnicity variable were numbered 14, 20, 25, 27, 28, 29, 37, 41, 47, 56, 57, 58, 62, 63, 64, and 67. Table 72 on ESRD beneficiaries was not reproduced because it was based on all ESRD enrollees who were identified, and not a sample like the other ones we have reproduced.

³ We did not produce individual tables for the Other, Unknown, or Missing race/ethnicity categories, but these are included in the Total table.

⁴ The slight modification was to not include historical data included in the original tables for comparison purposes because it was not available to us in a way that would parallel our presentation of race/ethnicity.

4.1.1 The Demographic Composition of Fee-for-Service Medicare

Figure 9 presents the fee-for-service Medicare enrollment in 2002 in a series of pie charts partitioned according to available beneficiary demographic characteristics. The largest age group slices are the 70-74 and 75-79 year olds, each representing just under one fourth of the fee-for-service enrollees, while the other four age group slices (including beneficiaries under 65 years of age) are smaller, only about two-thirds that size. Note that the 65-69 and 70-74 year old age groups are shaded the same color, and the same is true for the 75-79 and 80-84 year old age groups as well. This is because, in most of the remaining report, these groups are reported combined, using these same colors.



Figure 9 Demographic characteristics of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries: calendar year 2002

Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries.

With respect to sex, 56 percent of the fee-for-service beneficiaries are females. Sliced according to the basis for their entitlement, 84 percent receive Medicare because they are 65

years of age and over, rather than under 65 and disabled or with end stage renal disease (ESRD). The next section of the figure shows that two-thirds of the beneficiaries reside in urban areas. Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries are more heavily represented in the Midwest, 38 percent, and the South, 25 percent, than they are in the Northeast, 26 percent, and the West, only 16 percent.

The final section of the figure shows how beneficiaries are partitioned according to the new race/ethnicity measure we created for this project. The vast majority — almost 82 percent — are non-Hispanic White. The second largest group consists of non-Hispanic Black — just over nine percent. Hispanic persons constitute more than six percent of fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries, and less than two percent are Asian/Pacific Islander (A/PI). The smallest by far is the American Indian or Alaska Native group, less than one-half of a percent (approximately 118,000) of the fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries. Be aware that we do not show the "Other" and "Unknown" race categories in most of our tables and graphs, we have included them here for completeness. The "Other" represent almost exactly one-half percent of beneficiaries, while the "Unknown" are less than two-tenths of a percent.

4.1.2 Selected Measures of Utilization by Race/Ethnicity

A total of 27.1 million fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries (as described above) received one or more services covered by Medicare in calendar year 2002 and are presented according to race/ethnicity in Figure 10. The total amount paid out by the program for their care was \$159.9 billion, or a mean of \$5,734 per beneficiary served. The cost-sharing liability of beneficiaries served in 2002 was \$50.2 billion, and the mean liability per beneficiary served was \$1,799. Figure 11 presents the mean amount Medicare paid and the mean cost-sharing liability per beneficiary served by race/ethnicity.





Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

Figure 11 Mean Medicare program payments and patient liabilities per person served by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



For those fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries using services, there were a total of 8.8 million short-stay hospital discharges in 2002. The Medicare program paid \$60.6 billion for these hospital discharges. Each discharge had a mean length of 5.3 days of care and Medicare paid a mean of \$1,309 per day. Figure 12 shows the number of discharges per 10,000 Medicare Part A enrollees and the mean Medicare program payment per discharge by race/ethnicity.

Figure 12 Discharges from short stay hospitals per 10,000 Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries and mean payments per discharge by race/ethnicity; calendar year 2002



The top five principal diagnoses for fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries discharged from short-stay hospitals in calendar year 2002 were: heart disease (including congestive heart failure), coronary atheroscelerosis, cerebrovascular disease, pneumonia, and psychoses. These five diagnoses were the principal diagnosis for 3.4 million of the 8.7 million short-stay hospital discharges covered by Medicare in 2002. Medicare made \$28.1 billion of its total \$60.6 billion in payments for these five diagnoses. Figure 13 displays the number of discharges per 1,000 Medicare enrollees with Part A hospital coverage for each of these principal diagnoses in calendar year 2002 by race/ethnicity.

Figure 13 Discharges per 1000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries for overall top five diagnoses by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



In the 8.7 million short-stay hospital discharges for calendar year 2002, there were a total of 4.6 million that included one or more procedures. The five most often performed procedures were: removal of coronary artery obstruction, endoscopy of small intestine, cardiac catheterization, total knee replacement, and coronary artery bypass graft. The number of discharges per 1,000 Medicare Part A enrollees for each of these procedures in calendar year 2002 is presented by race/ethnicity in Figure 14.

Figure 14 Number of Discharges per 1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries for top five principal procedures by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



There were nearly 1.3 million covered admissions to skilled nursing facilities (SNFs) for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries in calendar year 2002, and the program paid nearly \$8.9 billion of the total \$14.1 billion in covered charges, or 63 percent. The average length of stay for admissions was 26 days and the average payment per admission was \$6,960. Figure 15 presents the rate of covered admissions per 10,000 Medicare Part A enrollees and the mean number of covered days per admission by race/ethnicity. The top five principal diagnoses for admissions to skilled nursing facilities included: fracture (neck of the femur), heart failure, pneumonia, osteoarthritis, and acute cerebrovascular disease. The mean number of covered days in a SNF per admission by race/ethnicity for the top five diagnoses is shown in Figure 16.

Figure 15 Covered days per skilled nursing facility admission and number of admissions per 1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 16 Number of covered skilled nursing facility days per admission for top five diagnoses by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Medicare covered home health services provided to almost 1.9 million fee-for-service beneficiaries in 2002. This included 57.9 million visits with total payments of almost \$7.1 billion. Figure 17 presents the rate of home health visits per 1,000 Part A enrollees by race/ethnicity.

Figure 17 Home health visits/1,000 Medicare fee-for-service Part A beneficiaries by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



There were 27.3 million Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries who received physician and other professional services covered through their Medicare Part B in 2002. Of the \$66.6 billion in allowed charges for those services, Medicare paid \$51.9 billion, or a mean of \$1,942 per beneficiary receiving professional service. The top five types of services according to the number of persons served were; medical care, diagnostic laboratory, diagnostic x-ray, surgery, and consultation. Figure 18 contains the mean payments per beneficiary with professional service claims for the five most often used services by race/ethnicity. Figure 19 presents the mean number of services received per beneficiary receiving services by place of service for the five most commonly reported places for physician services by race/ethnicity.

Figure 18 Mean payments per Medicare fee-for-service Part B beneficiary using professional services for top five types of service used by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 19 Mean number of services received per Medicare fee-for-service Part B beneficiary receiving services for five most often used places of service by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

4.2 Race/Ethnicity and the Use of Preventive Services: Screening for Cancer

Although not truly representing primary preventive measures, routine screening for early detection and treatment of certain types of cancers may be the best course of action available for limiting the impact of cancer on a person's health, function, and longevity. Low rates of cancer screening can result in delayed diagnosis, later stages of disease, limited treatment options, greater disability, and higher mortality. Depending on the type of cancer and the screening procedure, the age at which screening should be initiated and the frequency with which it should be repeated differ. Family and personal history of cancer also affect recommendations for the initiation and periodicity of screening. We have examined the use of screening procedures for breast, cervical, prostate, and colorectal cancers in this analysis. Our analysis focuses on the most commonly used screening procedures for these cancers, with attention primarily to those age groups enrolled in Medicare for whom screening is still likely to be recommended. The complete set of tables from which this analysis has been drawn is contained in Appendix B.

Mammography is recommended on an annual basis for the detection of breast cancer in women starting at age 40 and for as long as they remain in good health. In Medicare, it is a benefit available annually; beneficiaries pay 20 percent of the Medicare-approved amount with no Part B deductible. In reviewing the results of the analysis of mammography use, it is important to recall from Chapter 2 that breast cancer is the most common cancer in Black females and that their mortality rate from breast cancer is approximately 30 percent higher than for White females. It would be reasonable to expect that mammography use would mirror the breast cancer risk, but this is not the case.

The percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 years of age who had a mammogram according to their race/ethnicity is displayed in Figure 20. The use of mammography was clearly highest for White females in both age groups. Black and AI/AN females (groups that experience the highest breast cancer mortality rates) had approximately 25 and 40 percent lower mammography use, respectively, than White females. Both Hispanic and A/PI females had mammography utilization that was approximately 35 percent lower than White females. The lower mammography use among Black and AI/AN females despite their higher breast cancer mortality risk is an obvious example of a racial/ethnic difference in accessing a preventive health service. This differential access may contribute to the wide disparity in breast cancer mortality.

A Pap test and pelvic exam are covered by Medicare once every two years, with the exception of women at high risk and women of childbearing age with an abnormal Pap test within the past 36 months, in which case Medicare will cover screening every 12 months. Women aged 70 and above with three or more normal Pap tests in a row and no abnormal Pap test results in the last 10 years may choose to stop cervical cancer screening. However, women with a history of cervical cancer, DES exposure before birth, HIV infection, or a compromised immune system should continue to be screened for as long as they are in good health. Female Medicare beneficiaries pay for 20 percent of the approved amount for Pap test collection and the pelvic exam, with no part B deductible.

Figure 20 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries who received a mammogram by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 21 presents the percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries aged 65 to 74 years and 75 to 84 years who received a Pap test in 2002. White women in both age groups had a considerably higher proportion screened than Black, Hispanic, A/PI, and AI/AN women in both age groups. Black, Hispanic, and A/PI women 65 to 74 years of age received Pap tests about 22 to 33 percent less than White women; AI/AN women in this age group received this screening about 40 percent less than White women. There were also apparent differences by age with women aged 75 to 84 receiving Pap tests less often than women aged 65 to 74 in every racial/ethnic group. The reason for this difference may be traced back to the guidelines indicating that women aged 70 and above may forego the Pap test upon three normal Pap tests and no abnormal results within the past 10 years. Hispanic women exhibited the largest difference by age group; Hispanic women aged 65 to 74 received Pap tests close to 30 percent more than Hispanic women in the 75 to 84 age group.

As mentioned in Chapter 2, Black men have earlier onset of prostate cancer, higher prostate-specific antigen (PSA) levels, twice the risk of having a diagnosis of advanced prostate cancer, and higher mortality rates compared to White men. Starting at age 50, the American Cancer Society recommends that the PSA blood test and digital rectal examination (DRE) be offered annually to men with at least a 10-year life expectancy. Males at high risk—Black men and men with one or more first-degree relatives diagnosed at an early age – should begin testing at age 45. Medicare covers a DRE and PSA test once every 12 months. Male Medicare

beneficiaries pay 20 percent of the Medicare-approved amount for the DRE after meeting the yearly Part B deductible. However, there is no coinsurance and no Part B deductible for the PSA test.





Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

Figure 22 shows the percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who received a PSA test by age group and race/ethnicity. It is apparent that White men had the highest use in every age group compared to Black, Hispanic, A/PI, and AI/AN men. Particularly noteworthy was the immense variation in the receipt of a PSA test by AI/AN men in each of the three age groups compared to men of other races/ethnic groups. White, Black, Hispanic, and A/PI males obtained PSA tests 70 to 144 percent more than AI/AN males aged 65 to 74; 67 to 125 percent greater than AI/AN males aged 75 to 84; and 69 to 133 percent greater than AI/AN males aged 85 and over.

Figure 22 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who received a PSA test by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Overall, White males received this service approximately 14 percent more than A/PI males, 45 percent more than Hispanic males, 55 percent more than Black males, and 171 percent more than AI/AN males. When examining utilization by age group, more males aged 75 to 84 received the service compared to men in the immediately lower and higher age groups. This was the case for males in all racial/ethnic groups.

American Cancer Society cancer detection guidelines suggest that men and women at average risk for developing colorectal cancer comply with one of the following testing schedules starting at age 50: annual fecal occult blood test (FOBT) or fecal immunochemical test (FIT); flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years; annual FOBT or FIT plus flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years (the recommended option); double-contrast barium enema every 5 years; or colonoscopy every 10 years. Medicare beneficiaries pay nothing for the FOBT and pay 20 percent of the Medicare-approved amount after the yearly Part B deductible for flexible sigmoidoscopy, screening colonoscopy, and barium enema.

Figure 23 shows the percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal screening by sex and race/ethnicity. Distinctly noticeable are the low proportions of male and female beneficiaries of all races who received colorectal cancer screening. Less than 15 percent of men received colorectal cancer screening. Among AI/AN men, the rate was alarmingly low—less than 5 percent of AI/AN men received any colorectal cancer screening. AI/AN women received screening close to 60 percent more than AI/AN men. Similarly, Hispanic and Black

women received colorectal cancer screening approximately 46 and 54 percent more, respectively, than Hispanic and Black men. The smallest difference (20 percent) was found between A/PI men and women.



Figure 23 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received any colorectal screening by sex and race/ethnicity

Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

The percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal cancer screening by age group and race/ethnicity is presented for males (Figure 24) and females (Figure 25). Again, female beneficiaries clearly had a higher proportion receiving colorectal cancer screening than male beneficiaries in every age and racial/ethnic group. Examining the data by age group shows that a larger proportion of males aged 75 to 84 received colorectal screening than males aged 65 to 74 in every racial/ethnic group. The largest difference in colorectal cancer screening between the two age groups was seen among A/PI males. A/PI males aged 75 to 84 received screening 23 percent more often than A/PI males aged 65 to 74. Differences between the two age groups among females were much smaller. Among A/PI and AI/AN women, the proportion obtaining colorectal cancer screening was slightly higher among those aged 75 to 84 compared to those aged 65 to 74. The reverse was true among White and Black women where differences in the receipt of colorectal cancer screening were slightly higher among women aged 65 to 74 compared to those aged 75 to 84; among Hispanic women, the difference between the two age groups was less than one percent.

Figure 24 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal cancer screening by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 25 Percentage female Medicare beneficiaries who received colorectal cancer screening by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Also noteworthy were the differences in colorectal screening rates between males and females by age group. Colorectal screening among males aged 65 to 74 was 23 to 35 percent lower than for females in the same age group. Hispanic males and females had the greatest differences—colorectal screening among Hispanic males aged 65 to 74 were approximately 35 percent lower than among Hispanic females in the same age group. Gender differences in screening among beneficiaries aged 75 to 84 were much smaller than the differences seen among those aged 65 to 74. Among those aged 75 to 84, screening among males was nine to 26 percent lower than females in the same age group. The largest screening differences in this age group was seen among AI/AN males and females. A/PIs exhibited the smallest differences in screening by gender in both age groups.

In summary, White Medicare beneficiaries consistently received cancer screening in significantly higher proportions than Black, Hispanic, A/PI, and AI/AN Medicare beneficiaries. At the other end of the spectrum, AI/AN beneficiaries had the lowest screening for all cancer screening types compared to the other races, thus highlighting a major disparity in the receipt of a key category of preventive services. Regarding mammography utilization, Black women received mammograms nearly 25 percent less than White women, despite having a 30 percent higher breast cancer mortality rate. While Hispanic and A/PI women had very similar mammography utilization, the proportion using was still much lower than that of White women and slightly lower than the screening rate of Black women. Moreover, within each racial/ethnic

group, women aged 65 to 74 had higher mammography use than women aged 75 to 84. The same trends evident in breast cancer screening were seen in the receipt of Pap tests, although screening was slightly lower in each race/ethnic group for Pap tests compared to mammograms.

Despite the fact that Black men have been reported to have earlier onset of prostate cancer, more advanced stage and higher grade of disease at the time of diagnosis, and significantly higher prostate cancer incidence and mortality rates compared to White men, the proportion who received a PSA test ranked Black men third behind White, A/PI, and Hispanic men, and placed them only ahead of AI/AN men.

Female Medicare beneficiaries in every racial/ethnic group clearly have substantially higher proportion receiving colorectal screening compared to their male counterparts. White females have the highest level of screening followed by A/PI, Black, Hispanic, and AI/AN. Among the males, beneficiaries aged 75 to 84 consistently received the service more often than men aged 65 to 74 in every racial/ethnic group. However, this trend was not evident among the female beneficiaries. Although the difference between the age groups was very slight, those in the older age group had a higher utilization among A/PI and AI/AN females, while those in the younger age group had higher utilization among White and Black females. There was less than one percent difference among Hispanic females in these age groups.

As the second-leading cause of death in the United States after heart disease, cancer remains a major health threat to people of all races/ethnic groups. Disparities in the receipt of cancer screening are of particular concern because the mortality rate from all cancers combined is nearly 30 percent higher among Black compared to White persons, and more than double the cancer mortality rate of persons of A/PI, Hispanic, and AI/AN origins (Jemal et al., 2003). Reducing the barriers faced by these high-risk populations in accessing cancer screening may lead to earlier detection, diagnosis, and treatment, and improve the quality of life and survival rates for many in the long run.

4.3 Use of Secondary Preventive Services: Diabetes Care

Secondary preventive services are intended to limit the development of further complications to persons with an existing chronic medical condition, in this case diabetes mellitus. Complications are to be avoided because they could result in hospitalization, increased expense, further disability, lessened quality of life, and death. To assess the use of secondary preventive services for diabetes, it was first necessary to identify the subpopulation that has diabetes. We also had to identify those persons with diabetes who received services that could be effective in avoiding further complications of diabetes.

We used Medicare claims for calendar year 2002 to identify beneficiaries with diabetes. Beneficiaries were identified as diabetic if they had an inpatient claim that indicated a diagnosis of diabetes, or they had an outpatient or physician claim with a diagnosis of diabetes plus at least one acute procedure or two non-acute procedures more than seven days apart. The exact procedure codes and diagnostic codes for this and the other utilization-related variables created in this report are contained in Appendix G. From Figure 26, it is clear that the proportion of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes was higher among those who are Black, Hispanic, A/PI, and AI/AN than it was among White beneficiaries. Nearly 11.5 percent of White beneficiaries had diabetes. The proportion was more than 100 percent higher among AI/AN, more than 50 percent higher among Black and Hispanic, but only slightly more than 25 percent higher among A/PI beneficiaries.



Figure 26 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002

Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

Figure 27 shows that there was very little difference in the proportion of beneficiaries with diabetes among White males and females; however, among the minority groups, the figure shows that diabetes was more prevalent among females than males, albeit just less than 10 percent higher in A/PI females than males. It is striking among Black beneficiaries, however, that the proportion with diabetes was more than 40 percent higher in females than males, but it was only about 20 percent higher in females than males among Hispanic and AI/AN beneficiaries.

Figure 27 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



In addition to varying by race/ethnicity and sex, the prevalence of diabetes in Medicare beneficiaries differed by age group as well among both males (Figure 28) and females (Figure 29), but it seemed to vary more among females. Among Hispanic and AI/AN males, the oldest beneficiaries (85 and above) tended to have the lowest diabetes prevalence, where as among White, Black, and A/PI males, the youngest age group (under 65 years) had the lowest prevalence. However, among females of all races/ethnicities but A/PIs, the oldest age group had the lowest prevalence of diabetes. Only among A/PI females was the diabetes prevalence lowest among the youngest beneficiaries (under 65). Among male beneficiaries in all racial/ethnic groups, the middle age groups – 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 years of age – have the highest prevalence of diabetes. It was very similar among females, except among White females, where the largest proportion with diabetes was in the youngest age group. The full set of tabulations describing diabetes prevalence and secondary prevention services utilization for diabetes by these demographic characteristics is presented in Appendix C.

Figure 28 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by age and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 29 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes by age and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Having put diabetes prevalence among Medicare beneficiaries in context with respect to demographic differences, and race/ethnicity in particular, our focus shifted to the use of secondary preventive services that are covered and mostly paid for by Medicare. We identified four such services in 2002 from claims filed for beneficiaries with diabetes—foot care, eye examination, monitoring/testing, and instruction in self care⁵—that are covered in the traditional fee-for-service Medicare plan. Because we are looking only at the utilization of these services by beneficiaries identified as having diabetes, if there were no disparities we would expect to see little difference in utilization by racial/ethnic group, despite the large differences in diabetes prevalence by racial/ethnic group already described.

Receipt of foot care is based on ambulatory care claims that paid for therapeutic shoes or for a podiatry visit. The percentage of beneficiaries having received foot care by sex and race/ethnicity is presented in Figure 30. The most noticeable item in the figure is the low level at which this service was received among all every racial/ethnic groups. Also noticeable is the fact that, with the exception of AI/AN, females received a slightly higher level of this service than males. However, the highest levels of service were received by Black and Hispanic

⁵ The specific services and codes used to identify utilization of these four services for beneficiaries with diabetes are presented in Appendix G.

beneficiaries—more than 25 percent higher for Black than for White females, and the lowest levels of use of this service by A/PIs and AI/ANs—more than 40 percent lower for A/PI than for White females. Differences were similar in direction but not as large for males. There certainly were disparities in the use of this service, with A/PI and AI/AN beneficiaries who have diabetes using far fewer services than White beneficiaries, despite having a far higher prevalence of the disease.

Figure 30 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received foot care by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

Figure 31 shows quite a different situation with respect to diabetic beneficiaries who had ambulatory care claims that indicate they received an eye examination. This was clearly a service that was more generally provided to beneficiaries with diabetes because about half or more of the female beneficiaries and over 40 percent of the males received it. Black, Hispanic, and AI/AN beneficiaries of both sexes used this service far less often than White, and only a slightly smaller proportion of A/PIs used this service than Whites. There was only a very small difference in use between the sexes for this service among White and A/PI beneficiaries, but among Black and Hispanic there was a substantial difference between the sexes.

Figure 31 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received an eye exam by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



As Figure 32 shows, the receipt of testing services for hemoglobin A1c, lipid profiling, or microalbumin for monitoring insulin needs was the most used of the secondary prevention diabetes services we could confirm from Medicare ambulatory care claims. It is also worth noting that these testing services were received by almost the same proportion of male and female beneficiaries in all of the racial/ethnic groups. However, there was far less use of this service among both male and female AI/AN beneficiaries. AI/AN males and females received this service about 45 percent less often than White males, and almost that much less than the other racial/ethnic groups. About 10 percent smaller proportions of Black and Hispanic beneficiaries of both sexes used these services than White and A/PI beneficiaries. While the greatest disparity in use of this service was between AI/AN beneficiaries receiving this service than White and A/PI.

Figure 32 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received testing services by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The final type of diabetes preventive service use we examined was beneficiaries having ambulatory care claims for obtaining instruction in diabetes education and self-monitoring. It is apparent from Figure 33, that receipt of this service differed considerably by race/ethnicity, and, while not as much, by sex for all groups of beneficiaries. White and Black male and female beneficiaries had approximately the same proportion receiving self-care services. More than 10 percent fewer Hispanics and A/PIs of both sexes used these services than Black and White beneficiaries, but AI/AN beneficiaries had even lower utilization for both sexes. AI/AN beneficiaries of both sexes had more than 50 percent fewer beneficiaries receiving self-care instruction than White and Black.

Figure 33 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who received instruction in self-care by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



In summary, Black, Hispanic, and AI/AN Medicare beneficiaries clearly had higher prevalence of diabetes than White and A/PI. Quite consistently, female beneficiaries who had diabetes were more likely to use the four secondary preventive services than males with diabetes. The picture for utilization of secondary preventive services by persons with diabetes in the racial/ethnic groups was not nearly so clear and consistent, however. For the receipt of foot care, the least reported in claims of the four services, Black and Hispanic beneficiaries, male and female, were more likely to get this service than White. Black beneficiaries were about as likely as White to receive self-care services, but less likely to receive eye exams and testing services. A/PI beneficiaries, on the other hand, fell in between, because for eye exams and testing services, they received services in a proportion that was equal to White, but for foot care and instruction in self-care, their use was considerably lower than for White beneficiaries. In fact A/PI beneficiaries had the smallest proportion of persons with diabetes receiving foot care. Hispanics of both sexes, while more often receiving foot care than White beneficiaries, were less likely to receive eye examinations, testing, and self-care services than Whites. The situation for the AI/AN beneficiaries showed the most widespread disparities with respect to the proportion of males and females with diabetes who had claims showing they received these services. Their level of use for all four services was far below that of Black, Hispanic, and White beneficiaries. It was also lower than A/PI for all of the services but foot care.

4.4 Need for Primary Care Services: Hospital and Emergency Room Admissions for Ambulatory Care-Sensitive Conditions

It has been asserted that timely and effective primary medical care for the management of many chronic conditions can avoid or reduce the need for expensive hospitalization and emergency room observation. Researchers studying differences in access to and quality of medical care have identified a number of conditions that are particularly responsive to timely and effective ambulatory care. They use hospitalization for these ambulatory care-sensitive conditions (ACSCs) as an indicator of inadequate access to or poor-quality of primary care (Bindman, Grumbach, Osmond, et al., 1995).

We have compared by race/ethnicity the number and percentage of beneficiaries who were admitted to a hospital or observed in an emergency room during the 2002 calendar year for a set of 15 ACSCs. It was our purpose in making these comparisons to identify racial/ethnic groups that have higher rates of admission and could conceivably benefit from more timely, appropriate, or effective primary care. Among the 15 ACSCs we examined were five chronic conditions (chronic lung disease [asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease combined], congestive heart failure, seizures, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension); eight acute conditions (cellulitis, dehydration, bacterial pneumonia, urinary tract infection, gastric or duodenal ulcer, hypoglycemia, hypokalemia, and ear, nose and throat infections); and two preventable conditions (influenza and malnutrition) (McCall, Harlow, and Dayhoff, 2001).

Because of the generally small frequencies associated with the ACSCs, in some of the smaller racial/ethnic groups particularly, we have chosen to report on the numbers and proportions of beneficiaries with these conditions combined into logical sets of conditions. The conditions have been grouped according to whether there were (1) any chronic ACSCs, (2) any acute ACSCs, (3) any preventable ACSCs, and (4) any ACSCs at all. Tables that report on the number and percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital and emergency room admissions for each of the 15 individual ACSCs as well as for these four sets of conditions are presented in Appendix D.

The distribution of beneficiaries with hospital and emergency room admissions for chronic disease ACSCs suggest that they differ by the age, sex, and race/ethnicity of the beneficiaries. Figure 34 displays the proportions of males in each age group for each racial/ethnic group that had at least one admission for one of the five chronic ACSCs. The overall height of the bars indicates in a cumulative way which racial/ethnic group had the largest share of its male beneficiaries with an admission. Clearly, Black and AI/AN males had higher proportions with admissions than the other groups, while A/PI males had the lowest proportion hospitalized. However, an age group gradient is also apparent, in that the Medicare beneficiaries under 65 years of age (the disabled) generally had the highest proportion of admissions, but among those 65 years of age and older the proportion rose with age, although not quite reaching that of the disabled (under 65). The very same patterns were present among females, as can be seen from Figure 35. By comparing the proportions of males and females in each age group for racial/ethnic group, however, it is clear that a larger proportion of females had an admission for a chronic disease ACSC than males in all age groups and races.
Figure 34 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with a chronic ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 35 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for chronic ambulatory caresensitive conditions by age group and race/ethnicity; calendar year 2002



Turning to the proportion of beneficiaries with hospital and emergency room admissions for acute illness ACSCs, the patterns were somewhat different by age group and race/ethnicity than those described for chronic disease ACSCs. As can be seen from Figure 36, among males, the most notable fact was that the largest proportion with admissions for every age group belonged to AI/AN beneficiaries. The smallest proportion with admissions was for A/PI, the same as for chronic disease ACSCs. The other difference from chronic ACSCs was that the oldest (85 years and above) rather than the youngest age group (under 65 and disabled) had the largest proportion with admissions for acute ACSCs. Similar to the situation with chronic disease ACSCs, the proportion with admissions for acute ACSCs increased sharply with age (more than doubling), starting with the 65-to-74-year-old age group.

Figure 36 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The picture in Figure 37 for acute illness ACSCs was very similar for females and males. AI/AN females had the largest proportion with admissions for acute illness ACSCs in every age group. The A/PI females again had the smallest proportion with an admission, for acute illness this time. Unlike with the chronic disease ACSCs, the oldest age group of females in every racial/ethnic group had the largest proportion with acute ACSC admissions, and not the youngest age group. Similar to the situation with chronic disease ACSCs, the proportion with admissions for acute ACSCs increased sharply with age, starting with the 65-to-74-year-old age group. Whether males or females had a larger proportion of beneficiaries with an acute ACSC differed by racial/ethnic group.

Figure 37 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for acute ambulatory caresensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The proportion of beneficiaries with admissions for preventable ACSCs was much smaller than for chronic and acute ACSCs. However, a very similar pattern by race/ethnicity appeared as was in evidence for chronic disease ACSC admissions. Figure 38 shows that among males, Black and AI/AN beneficiaries had the largest proportion with a preventive admission overall and by age group. There was no clear pattern of preventive ACSC admissions by age group for men. Figure 39 presents a similar experience for female preventive ACSCs admissions. Black and AI/AN females had the largest proportion of preventive ACSC admissions, and A/PI females had the smallest proportion overall and by age group. There was no clear pattern of preventive ACSC admissions by age group for females either.

Figure 38 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for preventive ambulatory care-sensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 39 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for preventive ambulatory care-sensitive conditions by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Our final analysis of ACSCs combined all three types of ACSC admissions. It was not surprising that the pattern of male and female ACSC admissions without regard to type of condition (chronic, acute, or preventive) resembled those in the earlier figures. The proportions are definitely much higher and they reflect only a very small extent of multiple ACSCs per beneficiary in either sex or any age group. Figure 40 shows that Black and AI/AN males had the largest proportion of ACSC admissions overall and by age group. A/PI males had the smallest. The proportion of White and Hispanic males with an ACSC admission was about the same and intermediate between the extremes. Starting with the 65-and-older age group, the proportion of male beneficiaries with an admission for any ACSC increased with age, and the oldest age group had the largest proportion with an admission in all five racial/ethnic groups. The oldest age group also had a larger proportion than the age group under 65 that included disabled and ESRD beneficiaries.

Figure 40 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for any ambulatory caresensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 41 displays the same information for females. Again, Black and AI/AN female beneficiaries had the largest overall proportion of beneficiaries with an ACSC admission of any kind. As with the males, A/PIs had the smallest proportion, with White and Hispanic females intermediate to the extremes. There was clearly an age gradient among the females as well, with admissions increasing with age after turning 65 and the oldest age group typically having a larger proportion of beneficiaries with an admission than occurred in the under-65 age group that included disabled beneficiaries and those with ESRD.

Figure 41 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with admissions for any ambulatory caresensitive condition by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



In summary, our analysis of ACSC admissions indicated that Black and AI/AN males and females were likely not obtaining the primary care they needed to avoid unnecessary hospital and emergency department admissions for the treatment of their ambulatory care-sensitive chronic or acute illnesses. It also suggested that regardless of race/ethnicity, while ACSC admissions may be fairly common among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries under 65 years of age who were disabled or ESRD patients, the proportion of ACSC admissions increased with age, and was largest among those 85 years of age and older across all racial/ethnic groups. Our analysis did not indicate to what we could attribute the higher proportion of admission for ACSCs among Black and AI/AN beneficiaries. However, the consistent pattern of higher hospital and ER use for these minority groups as compared to the others and to White beneficiaries suggests that there are very likely impediments or barriers that act to restrict Black and AI/AN access to timely and effective primary care.

4.5 Hospital Care for Selected Common Chronic and Acute Diagnoses

We examined hospital utilization patterns among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries for six conditions during 2002 by race/ethnicity, sex, and age group. The conditions included heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, malignant neoplasms, diabetes, pneumonia, and fractures. In particular, we compared the proportion of persons with each of these specific diagnoses at discharge, the mean payment made per user, and the mean length of hospital stay in days. Detailed tables for this section of the report are contained in Appendix E while specifications for the utilization measures are described in Appendix G.

There were an estimated 1.3 million or four percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharges for heart disease in 2002. The mean length of stay was four and nine-tenths days and the mean payment made by Medicare per discharge for this condition was \$9,700. As Figure 42 shows, in all of the racial/ethnic groups but Black, larger proportions of men than women had hospital stays for heart disease. White men had the highest percentage of their hospital discharges associated with a diagnosis of heart disease, followed by Black females, while A/PI males and females had the lowest.





It is clear from Figure 43 that the mean payment made for hospital discharges with a heart disease diagnosis was higher for men than for women in all racial/ethnic groups. The amount was highest for A/PI males and females, respectively. The A/PI group had the lowest percentage of beneficiaries with hospitalization for that diagnosis. White males had the second-highest average payments made by Medicare, but Black females had the lowest. The average length of stay presented in Figure 44 shows only a difference of about six-tenths of a day from the highest (Hispanic males) to the lowest (While males) group, and only half a day difference between the Black and Hispanic females who had the highest average length of stay and A/PI who had the lowest average length of stay. With the exception of the Hispanic group, females had slightly longer stays for heart disease discharge diagnoses.





Figure 44 Mean length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a hospital discharge diagnosis of heart disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



In 2002, an estimated 381,000, or just over one percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries, were discharged from a hospital with a diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease. Their mean length of stay was four and a half days, and the mean payment made by Medicare for that hospitalization was \$5,420. Black males and females had the highest percentage of beneficiaries with a cerebrovascular disease discharge, and A/PI males and females had the lowest by far, as shown in Figure 45. The proportion of Black males was about 50 percent higher than for A/PI males, and Black females had a proportion that was twice as high as A/PI females.

Figure 45 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a hospital discharge diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



As with heart disease discharge diagnoses, Figure 46 shows that male and female A/PIs had the highest mean Medicare payment for a hospital discharge of cerebrovascular disease, and male and female Whites had the lowest by 25 and 35 percent less, respectively. The situation for the mean length of hospital stay was not as clear. What is clear from Figure 47 is that White males and females had the shortest lengths of stay while the longest for females belonged to the Hispanic group and, for males, to the Black group. The difference in mean length of stay was as much as a day and a half for these extremes.

Figure 46 Mean payment per Medicare fee-for-service beneficiary with a hospital discharge for a diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 47 Mean length of hospital stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a discharge diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

Almost 237,000 or three-quarters of one percent of hospital discharges for Medicare feefor-service beneficiaries in 2002 had a diagnosis of malignant neoplasm. The mean length of stay was six days and the mean payment made for such a discharge was \$10,438. Overall, a larger proportion of males than females had hospital discharges with a malignant neoplasm diagnosis. Figure 48 shows that a greater proportion of males had malignant neoplasm discharges than females in all the race/ethnic groups but AI/AN. It is clear from the figure that White males and females had the highest proportion of these discharges, and that Hispanic and A/PI males and females had the lowest.

Figure 48 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 49 presents the mean payment per malignant neoplasm discharge by sex and race/ethnicity in 2002. A very similar pattern exists with respect to payments for this diagnosis as existed with the other diagnoses thus far. Across all of the race/ethnic groups, males had a higher mean payment from Medicare than females. White males and females had the lowest mean payment across the race/ethnic groups, and the A/PI group, despite their low rate of malignant neoplasm discharge diagnosis, had the highest by a considerable amount—nearly 50 and 35 percent more than for White males and females, respectively. A fairly similar pattern of mean length of hospital stay in days is displayed in Figure 50. Males had a slightly higher mean number of days for their stays than females, but the differential was about the same across the racial/ethnic groups. Black beneficiaries had the longest stays and the White had the shortest by about a day and a half for males and a day for females.

Figure 49 Mean payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 50 Mean length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a hospital discharge diagnosis of malignant neoplasm by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Of the chronic conditions with hospital discharges in 2002 that we have studied among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries, diabetes had the smallest number, barely more than 113,000 or just over one-third of one percent of enrollees. The mean payment for diabetes discharges was \$6,718, and the mean length of stay was just slightly over six days. The rate of hospitalization for diabetes differed very little by sex but considerably by race/ethnicity as evidenced in Figure 51. White and A/PI males and females had the lowest proportion of hospitalization for diabetes among Medicare enrollees, but AI/AN and Black males and females had the highest rate—more than three times higher. Hispanic males and females fell in the middle with more than twice the rate of hospitalization for diabetes as White and A/PI beneficiaries.

Figure 51 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



As with the other hospital discharges, Figure 52 shows that A/PI male and female Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with a discharge diagnosis of diabetes had the highest mean payments, but Black males and White females had the lowest. As can be seen from Figure 53, with the exception of the White group, males had a longer average length of stay in the hospital for diabetes. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, it was more than a day longer on average and for A/PI it was more than a half-day longer.

Figure 52 Mean payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 53 Mean length of hospital stay for hospital discharge diagnosis of diabetes by sex and race/ethnicity



Just slightly fewer than 290,000 or nine-tenths of one percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries had a hospital discharge for diagnosis of fracture in 2002. The percentage of females that had hospital discharges with a fracture diagnoses was 250 percent higher than for males. The proportion of beneficiaries with fractures rose dramatically with age for both sexes. The percentage among beneficiaries 85 years of age and older was at least twice that for those 75 to 84 years of age. The overall mean Medicare payment for a hospital stay with a diagnosis of fracture was \$6,832, and the mean length of stay was five and a half days. Figure 54 contains the distribution of fracture discharges by sex and race/ethnicity. It is clear from the figure that White and IA/AN beneficiaries had the highest proportions with fractures for both sexes, and further, that a higher proportion of females had fracture discharges than males in every racial/ethnic group. It demonstrates that hospital discharges for a diagnosis of fractures more commonly occurred among older beneficiaries in every race/ethnicity, but especially among White and AI/AN females.

Figure 54 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge for fracture diagnosis by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 55 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by age group, sex, and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



White beneficiaries of both sexes had the lowest mean Medicare payment per beneficiary with a fracture diagnosis hospital discharge, and Figure 56 also shows that the highest payments for both sexes were again among the A/PI group. Figure 57 displays the mean length in days of a hospital stay with a discharge diagnosis of fracture by sex and race/ethnicity. It indicates that for all racial/ethnic groups, males had slightly longer stays than females. In addition, the figure shows that AI/AN and A/PI beneficiaries of both sexes had the longest stays, while White of both sexes had the shortest. The difference was about a day for males and more than a half-day for females.

Figure 56 Mean payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 57 Mean length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of fracture by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The last discharge diagnosis we examined was pneumonia. Nearly 360,000 or just over one percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries had a hospital discharge for pneumonia in 2002. The mean payment per hospital discharge for pneumonia was \$5,471 and the mean length of stay was just under 6 days. There is no overall difference between males and females in the proportion with a hospital stay for pneumonia.

Figure 58 presents the distribution of hospital discharges for pneumonia by sex and racial/ethnic group. It is clear from the figure that the highest rate of discharge with a diagnosis of pneumonia occurred among AI/AN group in both sexes, while the lowest was among A/PI of both sexes also. However, Figure 59 indicates that the A/PI beneficiaries had the highest mean payment per person with a discharge diagnosis of pneumonia, and the AI/AN group had the lowest mean payment, about \$2,000 lower. While AI/AN beneficiaries had the highest proportion of beneficiaries with a pneumonia discharge diagnosis, Figure 60 indicates that the AI/AN had the shortest mean length of hospital stay. Hispanic beneficiaries had the longest mean length of stay, about one and a half days longer on average than the AI/AN group.

Figure 58 Percentage of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 59 Mean payment for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 60 Mean length of stay for Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries with hospital discharge diagnosis of pneumonia by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



4.6 Utilization by Type of Service

Medicare beneficiaries have coverage for the receipt of a wide array of health service types. These include inpatient hospital care, outpatient clinic and emergency room services, physician and other professional services, home health care, skilled nursing facility care, durable medical equipment, and hospice care. We examined the use of several different types of services to learn whether there were racial/ethnic group differences in patterns of use. The complete set of tables from which this analysis was prepared is contained in Appendix F.

Nearly 86 percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries had a claim for at least one type of service in 2002 with a mean payment of \$4,803 for those with claims. More than 89 percent of females had at least one claim, about eight percent more than males. The mean amount of payments made by Medicare for males with claims was \$5,122, about \$540 more than for females. Figure 61 presents the proportions of males and females who had a claim for any type of service in 2002, according to race/ethnicity. As the figure shows, the proportion of females who had at least one Medicare claim was larger than the proportion of males with a claim for all racial/ethnic groups. The figure also shows that Hispanic males and females had the lowest proportion of users while White males and females had the highest.

Figure 61 Percentage of beneficiaries who had at least one claim for use of any type of Medicare covered service by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 62 presents the mean payments made by Medicare for persons with claims by sex and race/ethnicity. The figure shows that the lowest mean payments for service use made by Medicare were for A/PI and White males and females, and the highest mean payments were made for Black and AI/AN males and females. Across every racial/ethnic group, males had higher average payments than did females.

Figure 62 Mean annual payment for beneficiaries who had at least one claim for use of any type of Medicare covered service by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The next two figures display mean payments made across age and racial/ethnic groups separately by sex. Figure 63 shows that for males, with the exception of the White group, the largest mean payment was made for those under-65-years of age, which was comprised of the disabled and non-aged ESRD beneficiaries. With the groups starting at age 65, mean payments generally increased with age in all of the race/ethnicity categories. Figure 64 shows that much the same situation was true for females.

Figure 63 Mean annual payments for male beneficiaries with at least one claim for use of any type of Medicare covered service by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 64





Source: Sample of 1,960,121 fee-for-service beneficiaries selected by RTI from mid-2003 EDB. The race/ethnicity variable is the result of running the algorithm on those same beneficiaries. The claims examined were for calendar year 2002.

The first individual type of service we examined was inpatient hospital admissions. Nearly 17 percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries had one or more hospital stays in 2002, with a mean payment by Medicare of \$10, 447 per discharge. Overall, while a slightly higher proportion of females had at least one hospital stay compared to males, the mean payment per stay for males was considerably more than for females. Figure 65 shows that the overall pattern of a larger proportion of female inpatient hospital users existed within racial/ethnic groups as well, with the sole exception of A/PI beneficiaries. Only Hispanic and A/PI beneficiaries had smaller proportions of males and females with inpatient stays than White. The overall higher mean cost per hospital stay for males was also replicated in Figure 66 across all racial/ethnic groups. While not exceptionally low relative to the other groups, White beneficiaries had the lowest mean payment per stay for both sexes.

Figure 65 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with at least one hospital stay by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 66 Mean annual payments for Medicare beneficiaries with at least one hospital stay by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Next we examined the use of physician services. This was by far the most used type of service covered by Medicare. More than 76 percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries had one or more claims for physician services in 2002. The mean annual Medicare payment for physician services for those who used them was \$517. Overall, a larger proportion of female than male Medicare beneficiaries had claims for physicians' services. Figure 67 shows that a larger proportion of females than males had physician visits across all of the race/ethnic groups as well. It is also apparent from the figure that White beneficiaries have the largest proportion of males and females with physician visits, while beneficiaries of Hispanic origin have the lowest proportions of both sexes with claims showing physician visits. Differences in the payments made for male and female beneficiaries were fairly small for White, Black, and A/PI beneficiaries, and only slightly larger for Hispanic and AI/AN, among whom females had slightly higher payments, as can be seen in Figure 68. This figure also shows that Hispanic beneficiaries who had the lowest proportion with claims for physician services had the highest mean annual payments per user for those services, while White beneficiaries who had the highest proportions with physician services had the lowest mean payments per user.

Figure 67 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries with at least one claim for a physician visit by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 68 Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries with at least one claim for a physician visit by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



While not among the most used types of services, skilled nursing facility services were used by more than five percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries in 2002, and very nearly used twice as often by females as males overall. The average annual payment per user in 2002 was \$5,398. The proportion of males using this type of service increased dramatically with age across all race/ethnic groups, and as Figure 69 shows, the proportion of males using these services was highest for Black and White beneficiaries and lowest for Hispanic and A/PI.

Figure 69 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 70 tells a similar story about the use of skilled nursing facilities by female beneficiaries. White and Black females had the highest proportion of skilled nursing facility use, and Hispanic and A/PI females had the lowest. In every racial/ethnic group, the oldest age group (85 years of age and over) had the largest proportion of users, but among female beneficiaries, the proportion more than doubled (and approached tripling) in moving from the next-oldest group (75 to 84 years) to the oldest, something it only did for White males.
Figure 70 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 71 indicates that, regardless of racial/ethnic group, male beneficiaries under 65 years of age (the disabled) had the lowest payments per user. Further, this figure suggests that there was little difference in average payments for males receiving skilled nursing care across the other age groups regardless of race/ethnicity.

Figure 71 Mean annual payment for male Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The average annual payment for females who used skilled nursing facility services is displayed in Figure 72. Only among AI/AN females was the mean payment of the age group under 65 higher than for any other age group. In the other racial/ethnic groups, females in the 65 to 74 and 75 to 84 age groups had the highest payments for their care, and the oldest age group had the lowest mean payments.

Figure 72 Mean annual payment for female Medicare beneficiaries who used skilled nursing facility services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Home health services were used by nearly seven percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries in 2002. Females used this service half again as much as males. The overall average annual payment for these services was \$3,479. From Figure 73, the proportion of males using this service appeared to follow an increasing age gradient across all of the racial/ethnic groups, with use in the oldest age group from 60 percent to almost 100 percent more than in the next-oldest group. Black and Hispanic males tended to have the largest proportion of users, while A/PI and AI/AN males had the smallest.

Figure 73 Percentage of male Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Figure 74 presents the proportion of females using home health services. The situation was the same as among the males. Black and Hispanic females had the largest proportion of users, while A/PI and AI/AN females had the smallest. The proportion of females using this service followed an increasing age gradient across all of the racial/ethnic groups, with use in the oldest age group considerably more than in the next-oldest group.

Figure 74 Percentage of female Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The mean annual payment made for male Medicare beneficiaries is reported in Figure 75 by age and racial/ethnic group. This figure shows that the highest mean payments were made for AI/AN, Black, and Hispanic males, while the lowest were made for White and A/PI.

Figure 75 Mean annual payment for male Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



For females, the picture presented in Figure 76 is similar to males by race/ethnicity, but there were more comparable average amounts paid by Medicare across the age range for all of the race/ethnic groups. Nonetheless, Black and AI/AN females typically had the highest amounts paid, while White and Hispanic females had the lowest.

Figure 76 Mean annual payment for female Medicare beneficiaries with home health services by age group and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



Twenty percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries made use of the durable medical equipment benefit in 2002, with about 20 percent more females using it than males. The overall average payment made per user was \$396. As Figure 77 reports, Black and Hispanic females are the most likely to have used this Medicare benefit, although a larger proportion of females than males received durable medical equipment under Medicare in all of the racial/ethnic groups. A/PIs have the smallest proportion of beneficiaries using this benefit.

Figure 77 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries receiving durable medical equipment by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



While females are more likely to use the durable medical equipment benefit, male beneficiaries have larger payments made for them in every racial/ethnic group, as can be seen in Figure 78. This figure also shows that Hispanic beneficiaries of both sexes have the largest mean payment amount, while White males and females have the smallest.

Figure 78 Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries receiving durable medical equipment by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



The final type of service use we examined was the emergency room. The emergency room was used by 21 percent of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries in 2002, about 10 percent more by females than males. The mean annual amount Medicare paid for users of this service was \$587. Figure 79 shows that use of the emergency room is highest for both AI/AN and Black males and females, and lowest by a large margin for both A/PI males and females.

Figure 79 Percentage of Medicare beneficiaries receiving emergency room services: calendar year 2002



The mean annual payments for emergency room use made by Medicare per user are presented in Figure 80 and show that payments were slightly higher for males than females in all racial/ethnic groups. In this case, the largest mean payments were made for Black and Hispanic beneficiaries, and the smallest by about one-third were made for A/PI.

Figure 80 Mean annual payment for Medicare beneficiaries receiving emergency room services by sex and race/ethnicity: calendar year 2002



CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Summary of Study Approach and Methods

The overall goal of this project was to identify and document, where possible, disparities in health care use as well as to indicate where disparities in use are likely to be associated with disparities in health status between the dominant White population and racial and ethnic minorities enrolled in the traditional fee-for-service Medicare program. To do this in a valid and reliable manner, we first had to improve the race/ethnicity coding of Hispanic and Asian and Pacific Islander (A/PI) Medicare beneficiaries, given the documented deficiencies in their coding which has been amply documented over the years. We did this through the development and testing of an algorithm using Hispanic and A/PI surname lists created by the U.S. Census Bureau and information available on the Medicare enrollment database (EDB). Part 1 of this project Final Report documented how this was done and the success that was achieved in improving the validity and accuracy of the EDB race/ethnicity code for Hispanic and A/PI beneficiaries.

To achieve the overall project goal, it was also necessary to have an understanding of what is generally meant by the term "disparity", and to identify from the published literature a variety of conditions for which there are documented health disparities between minority group members and the dominant White population that are associated with disparities in the use of or access to necessary and appropriate health services. Merely identifying differences in health status or the use of health services is generally not enough to establish the existence of a disparity. There may be legitimate reasons for differences in service use to exist. For example, different disease prevalence among racial and ethnic groups can justify greater use of screening and diagnostic procedures among the group with the higher disease prevalence, and this would be a difference but not be considered a disparity.

For our purposes in this report, a disparity in health service use is said to exist in a situation when, by reason of greater minority group risk factors, disease prevalence, mortality, disability, or other unacceptable health outcome, there is no way to justify a difference in the health service use of the minority group and the rest of the population. Disparity suggests that a segment of the population is not receiving appropriate or adequate services or receiving them in a timely manner, and that it is not an acceptable state of affairs for the segment , i.e.not merely a difference. Thus, the concept of disparity carries with it a social justice connotation that labeling something a difference does not have. This is not to say that some differences that seem reasonable today will not be considered disparities in the future as more research is conducted. Medicare beneficiaries in the fee-for-service option are an ideal group in which to examine disparities because they have similar benefits under the program, most are older and they have developed chronic health problems that require continued use of services to manage them well, and they use even more services when their health problems are not well managed and become acute.

The selective literature review of known health disparities by race/ethnicity that we prepared indicated that Blacks face higher cancer prevalence and mortality, particularly for colorectal and breast cancer, as compared with Whites. We also noted that Blacks had higher

rates of diabetes and its complications than Whites, but received fewer secondary preventive services. In addition, we reported that American Indians and Alaska Natives had much higher rates of heart disease, breast and prostate cancer, and diabetes than Whites, and they reported receiving fewer preventive services for these conditions. Further, larger proportions of Asians reported stomach and liver cancer than Whites and received fewer preventive services and less counseling from their physician. Hispanics had higher rates of hypertension, diabetes, and breast and cervical cancer than Whites, and more often included persons who report never having received preventive services or screening.

Finally, we selected a random sample of nearly 2 million Medicare beneficiaries, stratified by race/ethnicity, who were enrolled in traditional fee-for-service Medicare for the entire year to provide us with information on the service use of Medicare beneficiaries in calendar year 2002. Data extracted from the claims submitted for this sample of beneficiaries were used to examine patterns among the minority racial/ethnic groups as well as White beneficiaries. The data from these claims were used to create tables broken down by race/ethnicity for:

- assorted global measures of utilization last reported in the Medicare and Medicaid Supplement: 2000;
- preventive services use measures that involve screening for different forms of cancer;
- secondary preventive services use measures for a group of beneficiaries identified as having diabetes;
- measures that reflect necessary access to primary care to avoid hospitalization for conditions that can be adequately managed on an ambulatory basis;
- measures of hospital services for the treatment of chronic and acute conditions common to Medicare beneficiaries; and
- measures of the use of different types of Medicare covered services.

Our focus on the use of cancer screening services, secondary preventive services for diabetes, and access to appropriate primary care as measured by hospital and ER admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions are the most directly associated with identifying disparities in the use of health services.

5.2 Summary of Results

Cancer Screening Services

Our analysis looked for disparities among the races in the use of screening procedures for breast, cervical, prostate, and colorectal cancers by women and, where applicable, by men 65 to 84 years of age. Overall, we found that higher percentages of White Medicare beneficiaries consistently received screening services for breast, cervical, colorectal, and prostate cancer than Black, Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native Medicare beneficiaries, despite the fact that

these groups experience equal or higher incidence of and higher mortality from these cancers. Smaller percentages of Asian/Pacific Islander than White Medicare beneficiaries also received these screening services, but their incidence and mortality from these cancers are lower than for Whites. Our analysis indicates that there are racial/ethnic disparities in the use of cancer screening services.

Diabetes Prevention Services

Secondary preventive services are intended to limit the development of further complications to persons with an existing chronic medical condition. To assess the use of secondary preventive services, it is necessary to identify a subpopulation that has the condition whose further complication is to be avoided. We examined diabetes mellitus because it is possible to identify persons with diabetes from their Medicare claims. In addition, diabetes has been identified as a condition for which minorities suffer disparities in health, possibly resulting from limited access to appropriate care. We examined the use of four secondary preventive services by persons with diabetes —foot care, eye examination, monitoring/testing, and instruction in self care—all covered in the traditional fee-for-service Medicare plan.

We found that across the four diabetes secondary prevention services, White beneficiaries with diabetes most consistently received the highest level of services followed closely by Asians/Pacific Islanders. These two groups had the lowest percentage of diabetic beneficiaries. Blacks and Hispanics, groups with high diabetes prevalence, had lower preventive service use than Whites and Asians/Pacific Islanders, with the exception of the least used service (foot care). American Indians/Alaska Natives, the group with the highest diabetes prevalence had the lowest use levels of all the services except foot care. Clearly, racial/ethnic disparities exist in the use of these secondary preventive services for diabetes.

Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions

Timely and effective primary medical care for the management of many chronic conditions can avoid or reduce the need for expensive hospitalization and emergency room observation. Researchers studying differences in access to and quality of medical care have identified a number of conditions that are particularly responsive to ambulatory care. Hospitalizations for these ambulatory care-sensitive conditions (ACSCs) are taken as an indicator of inadequate (neither timely nor effective) or poor-quality primary care. For our analysis of what are relatively small numbers, we grouped 15 ACSCs into three categories: chronic (chronic lung disease [asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease combined], congestive heart failure, seizures, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension); acute (cellulitis, dehydration, bacterial pneumonia, urinary tract infection, gastric or duodenal ulcer, hypoglycemia, hypokalemia, and ear, nose and throat infections); and preventable conditions (influenza and malnutrition).

There were relatively few hospitalizations for the three categories of ACSCs, so we pooled the data for all three types of ACSCs and found a strong pattern of differences in hospitalization for ACSCs. The percentage of Black and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries with a hospitalization for an ACSC was more than double that of Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries. White and Hispanic beneficiaries had intermediate levels of

hospitalization that was still less than three-fourths that of Black and American Indian/Alaska Native beneficiaries. While Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries appear to be an exception, the analysis points to racial/ethnic disparities in the use of hospital care for conditions that should be attenuated by the more timely use of the appropriate primary care.

Hospitalization for Selected Medical Conditions

We analyzed hospital utilization patterns among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries for six conditions. The conditions included heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, malignant neoplasms, diabetes, pneumonia, and fractures. Specifically, we compared the percentage of persons with each of the six diagnoses at discharge, the mean length of hospital stay per discharge in days, and the mean payments made per hospital user.

We were not readily able to conclude anything definitive about racial/ethnic health care disparities from our analysis of hospital discharges for the selected diagnoses and their associated lengths of stay, except that there were differences between the racial/ethnic groups. Whether the differences in diagnoses reflect alternative diets or modes of treatment, genetic differences in susceptibility and prevalence, differences in exposure risks, or a different quality of care being provided, we cannot say. One pattern that emerged, however, was that Asian/Pacific Islanders frequently had the highest annual average payments made for their care. It may be due to the higher prices that their providers charge or to a higher intensity of service being provided.

Types of Services

Medicare provides for treatment in different care settings and utilizing different kinds of care providers. We examined whether there were racial/ethnic group differences in the use of different types of services. The services included inpatient care, physician services, skilled nursing facilities, home health care, durable medical equipment, and emergency department care.

We found that there were some rather large differences in the way the different racial/ethnic groups used their Medicare benefits. It is not possible to tell from the analyses we have done whether these differences are the result of choices made along social or cultural lines to provide care for elders in alternative ways, an absence of a need for the services, limited availability of the services in their residential areas, or discrimination of some kind. From the analyses of the average annual payments across the types of services we observed that Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries, despite being low users of Medicare services as a group, fairly regularly had the highest payments made for the services they used. It was not possible to discern from our analysis whether this was the result of receiving services from high priced providers or having received fairly intensive (and therefore expensive) treatments.

5.3 Caveats and Limitations

While this report represents exciting new work improving the racial/ethnic identification of Medicare beneficiaries and examining racial/ethnic disparities in health services utilization among fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries, there are some limitations to which attention should be paid.

We were very successful in our efforts to improve racial/ethnic identification of beneficiaries on the EDB, increasing the sensitivity of the race/ethnicity code for Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander beneficiaries from less than 30 percent and 55 percent respectively to approximately 80 percent for both. However, despite the success of the surname algorithm in more correctly identifying Hispanics and A/PI beneficiaries than the original EDB codes, there were still errors remaining in the improved racial/ethnic codes assigned. Using the CAHPS survey respondents as the gold standard, we estimate that approximately 20 percent of the Hispanics and Asians/Pacific Islanders remain miscoded.

CMS has undoubtedly improved the coding and identification of American Indians/Alaska Natives in the Medicare enrollment data base (EDB) through arrangements it has made with the Indian Health Service and tribal health care providers. Nonetheless, our analysis suggests that only about one third of those who would self-identify themselves as being of American Indian/Alaska Native heritage are currently identified on the EDB. This means that the analyses we have reported of American Indians/Alaska Natives may well be biased. We have chosen to report them because the results reflect what others have reported: for many services that American Indians/Alaska Natives should be receiving, they are not getting them at the same level that other racial/ethnic groups with lower identified need are receiving them. Thus, if the picture of utilization we have painted is biased, it is the magnitude of differences in service use and not the direction of the differences that are most likely incorrectly estimated.

Another limitation of our analyses is that we looked at only a limited number of the types of services, service provider locations, and diagnoses to find whether there were racial/ethnic differences. We looked at cancer screening and diabetes preventive care but we did not, for example, analyze whether there were racial/ethnic differences in the types of treatments for different forms of cancer or for treating the resultant complications of diabetes. Further, while we examined whether there were racial/ethnic differences in the extent to which common medical conditions that are considered responsive to timely and appropriate ambulatory care resulted in hospitalizations, and the extent to which selected conditions resulted in hospital and other types of service use, there are certainly other diagnoses and settings for which the appropriateness and timeliness of care have yet to be analyzed to examine possible racial/ethnic differences. Clearly, more intensive disease and treatment specific analyses remain to be performed before it can be established whether there are racial/ethnic disparities in those areas of care.

The final limitation concerns the fact that our analyses do not demonstrate a direct link between the differences in service use and why they exist, and the health outcomes of the beneficiaries included in the study. We do attempt to tie the historical record of greater disease and worse health to differences in service utilization for the racial/ethnic groups studied, but the current patterns of utilization cannot strictly be used to explain patterns of historical outcomes without demonstrating that the patterns of care have not changed markedly over time. Further, from these analyses we are not able to explain why the differences in service utilization exist. Clearly the insurance coverage through Medicare is the same, but that is only one element of beneficiary access to care. Differences in supplemental coverage through private insurance, retiree coverage, or Medicaid aspect may alter the payment component of access. It may be that the providers of care are not as conveniently located, experienced, well-trained, or capable of providing the best care possible. And of course it may be that for some reason, the beneficiaries do not recognize or accept the need for care or they may for social or cultural reasons choose not to receive the appropriate care in a timely manner despite knowing their need. Provider discrimination is also a possibility. Depending on the reasons that the differences in service utilization exist, the approach to altering the situation will differ.

REFERENCES

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. "2004 National Healthcare Disparities Report." December 2004. AHRQ Publication No. 05-0014.

American Cancer Society. "Cancer Facts & Figures 2005." Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2005. Available online: <u>http://www.cancer.org/downloads/STT/CAFF2005PWSecured4.pdf</u>, accessed January 25, 2005.

American Heritage® Dictionary of the English Language, Fourth Edition Copyright © 2000 by Houghton Mifflin Company. Published by Houghton Mifflin Company.

Balluz, L.S., Okoro, C.A., Strine, T.W. "Access to Health-Care and Preventive Services Among Hispanics and Non -Hispanics - United States, 2001-2002." *MMWR*, October 15, 2004, 53(40), 937-941.

Balsa, A.I., McGuire, T.G. "Statistical Discrimination in Health Care." *Journal of Health Economics*, 2001, 20: 881 -907.

Benard, V.B., Lee, N.C., Piper, M., Richardson, L. "Race-specific Results of Papanicolaou Testing and the Rate of Cervical Neoplasia in the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program, 1991-1998." *Cancer Causes and Control*, 2001, 12, 61-68.

Bindman, A. B., Grumbach, K., Osmond, D., Komaromy, M., Vranizan, K., Lurie, N., Billings, J., Stewart, A. "Preventable Hospitalizations and Access to Health Care". *JAMA*, 1995, 274: 305-311.

Bradley, C.J., Given, C.W., Roberts, C. "Disparities in Cancer Diagnosis and Survival." *Cancer*, 2001, 91(1): 179-188.

Braveman, P. and Gruskin, S. "Defining equity in Health." *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 2003, 57: 254-258.

Burrows, N.R., Valdez, R., Geiss, L.S., Engelgau, M.E. "Prevalence of Diabetes Among Hispanics - Selected Areas, 1998-2002." *MMWR*, October 15, 2004, 53(40): 941-944.

Carter-Pokras, O., Baquet, C. "What is a Health Disparity?" *Public Health Reports*, 2002, 117, 426-434.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Office of Minority Health. "Eliminating Racial & Ethnic Health Disparities." Available online: <u>www.cdc.gov/omh/AboutUs/disparities.htm</u>, accessed October 12, 2004.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Health Disparities Experienced by Racial Ethnic Minority Populations." *MMWR*, 53(33), August 27, 2004.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Public Health: Social Determinants of Health." *Chronic Disease Notes & Reports*, 15(2):1-9, Spring/Summer 2002.

Chang, W-C. "The Meaning and Goals of Equity in Health." *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 2002. 56. 488-491.

Chu, K.C., Lamar, C.A., Freeman, H.P. "Racial Disparities in Breast Carcinoma Survival Rates: Separating Factors that Affect Diagnosis from Factors that Affect Treatment." *Cancer*, 2003, 97, 2853-60.

Clegg, L.X., Li, F.P., Hankey B.F., Chu, K., Edwards, B.K. "Cancer Survival Among US Whites and Minorities." *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2002, 162, 1985-1993.

Cooper, G.S., Koroukian, S.M. "Racial Disparities in the Use of and Indications for Colorectal Procedures in Medicare Beneficiaries." *Cancer*, 2004, 100(2): 418-424.

Day, J.C. Population Projections of the United States by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic Origin: 1995-2050. U.S. Bureau of the Census. Current Population Reports, P25-1130, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington DC, 1996.

Denny, C.H., Holtzman, D., Cobb, N. "Surveillance for Health Behaviors of American Indians and Alaska Natives: Findings from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1997-2000." *MMWR*, August 1, 2003, 52(SS07), 1-13.

Dignam, J.J., Colangelo, L., Tian, W., Jones, J., Smith, R., Wikerham, D.L., Wolmark, N. "Outcomes Among African-Americans and Caucasians in Colon Cancer Adjuvant Therapy Trials: Findings From the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 1999, 91(22): 1933-1999.

Fiscella, K., Franks, P., Meldrum, S. "Estimating Racial/Ethnic Disparity in Mammography Rates: It All Depends on How you Ask the Question." *Preventive Medicine*, 2004, 39, 399-403.

Freedland, S.J., Isaacs, W.B. "Explaining Racial Differences in Prostate Cancer in the United States: Sociology or Biology?" *The Prostate*, 2005, 62, 243-252.

Ghafoor, A., Jemal, A., Cokkinides, V., Cardinez, C., Murray, T., Smauels, A., Thun, M.J. "Cancer Statistics for Blacks." *CA Cancer J Clin*, 2002, 52(6): 326-341.

Gilligan, T., Wang, P.S., Levin, R., Kantoff, P.W., Avorn, J. "Racial Differences in Screening for Prostate Cancer in the Elderly." *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2004, 164, 1828-1864.

Glover, M.J., Greenlund, K.J., Ayala, C., Croft, J.B. "Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Prevalence, Treatment, and Control of Hypertension - United States, 1999-2002. *MMWR*, January 14, 2005, 54(1), 7-9.

Godley, P.A., Schenck, A.P., Amamoo, M.A., Schoenbach, V.J., Peacock, S., Manning, M., Symons, M., Talcott, J.A. "Racial Differences in Mortality Among Medicare Recipients After

Treatment for Localized Prostate Cancer." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2003, 95(22): 1702-1710.

Gornick, M.E., Eggers, P.W., Riley, G.F. "Associations of Race, Education, and Patterns of Preventive Service Use with Stage of Cancer at Time of Diagnosis." *Health Services Research*, 2004, 39(5): 1403-1427.

Grieco, E.M., Cassidy, R.C. "Census 2000 Brief: Overview of Race and Hispanic Origin." U.S. Census Bureau, 2001. Available online: <u>http://www.census.gov/prod/2001pubs/c2kbr01-1.pdf</u>, accessed December 28, 2004.

Griggs, J.J.; Sorbero, M.E.S., Stark, A.T., Heininger, S.E., Dick, A.W. "Racial Disparity in the Dose and Dose Intensity of Breast Cancer Adjuvant Chemotherapy." *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 2003, 81, 21-31.

Groeneveld, P.W., Heidenreich, P.A., Garner, A.M. "Racial Disparity in Cardiac Procedures and Mortality Among Long-Term Survivors of Cardiac Arrest." *Circulation*, 2003, 108, 286-291.

Gwyn, K., Bondy, M.L., Cohen, D.S., Lund, M.J., Liff, J.M., Flagg, E.W., Brinton, L.A., Eley, J.W., Coates, R.J. "Racial Differences in Diagnosis, Treatment, and Clinical Delays in a Population-Based Study of Patients with Newly Diagnosed Breast Carcinoma." *Cancer*, 2004, 100, 1595-1604.

Harlan, L.C., Potosky, A., Gilliland, F.D., Hoffman, R., Albertsen, P.C., Hamilton, A.S., Eley, J.W., Stanford, J.L., Stephensen, R.A. "Factors Associated with Initial Therapy for Clinically Localized Prostate Cancer: Prostate Cancer Outcomes Study." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2001, 93(24): 1864-1871.

Hoffman, R.M., Gilliland, F.D., Eley, J.W., Harlan, L.C., Stephenson, R.A., Stanford, J.L., Albertson, P.C., Hamilton, A.S., Hunt, W.C., Potosky, A.L. "Racial and Ethnic Differences in Advanced-Stage Prostate Cancer: the Prostate Cancer Outcomes Study." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2001, 93(5): 388-395.

Imperato, P.J., Nenner, R.P., Will, T.O. "Radical Prostatectomy: Lower Rates among African-American Men." *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 1996, 88)9): 589-594.

Institute of Medicine, Committee on Monitoring Access to Personal Health Care Services. *Access to Care in America*. Millman M. (Ed.). Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 1993.

Iselin, C.E., Box, J.W., Vollmer, R.T., Layfield, L.J., Robertson, J.E., Paulson, D.F. "Surgical Control of Clinically Localized Prostate Carcinoma is Equivalent in African-American and White Males." *Cancer*, 1998, 83, 2353-2360.

Jemal, A., Murray, T., Samuels, A., Ghafoor, A., Ward, E., Thun, M.J. "Cancer Statistics, 2003." *CA Cancer J Clin*, 2003, 53(1): 5-26.

Jemal A, Clegg LX, Ward E, Ries LA, Wu X, Jamison PM, Wingo PA, Howe HL, Anderson RN, Edwards BK. "Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2001, with a Special Feature Regarding Survival." *Cancer*, 2004, 101(1):3-27.

Johnson, R.L., Saha, S., Arbelzez, J.J., Beach, M.C., Cooper, L.A. "Racial and Ethnic Differences in Patient Perceptions of Bias and Cultural Competence in Health Care." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2004, 19, 101-110.

Joslyn, S.A., West, M.M. "Racial Differences in Breast Carcinoma Survival." *Cancer*, 2000, 88, 114-123.

Kaiser Family Foundation. "American Indians and Alaska Natives: Health Coverage and Access to Care." February 2004. Available online:

http://www.kff.org/minorityhealth/loader.cfm?url=/commonspot/security/getfile.cfm&PageID=3 1131, accessed January 25, 2005.

Kaiser Family Foundation. "Key Facts: Race, Ethnicity & Medical Care." June 2003. Available online:

http://www.kff.org/minorityhealth/loader.cfm?url=/commonspot/security/getfile.cfm&PageID=1 4366, accessed November 10, 2004.

Klabunde, C.N., Potosky, A.L., Harlan, L.C., Kramer, B.S. "Trends and Black/White Differences in Treatment for Nonmetastatic Prostate Cancer." *Medical Care*, 1998, 36(9): 1334-1348.

Liao, Y., Tucker, P., Giles, W.H. "Health Status of American Indians Compared with Other Racial/Ethnic Minority Populations—Selected States, 2001-2002." *MMWR*, November 28, 2004, 52(47): 1148-1152. Available online: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5247a3.htm, accessed 10/18/04.

Liao, Y., Tucker, P., Okoro, C.A., Giles, W.H., Mokdad, A.H. Harries, V.B. "Reach 2010 Surveillance for Health Status in Minority Communities - United States, 2001-2002." *MMWR*, August 27, 2004, 53(SS06), 1-36. Available online: www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5306a1.htm, accessed 10/18/04.

Mandelblatt, J.S., Kerner, J.F., Hadley, J., Hwang, Y.T., Eggert, L., Johnson, L.E., Gold, K. "Variations in Breast Carcinoma Treatment in Older Medicare Beneficiaries." *Cancer*, 2002, 95, 1401-1414.

Mayberry, R.M., Mili, F., Ofili, E. "Racial and Ethnic Difference in Access to Medical Care." *Medical Care Research and Review*, 57 (Supplement 1, 2000): 108-145.

McCarthy, E.P., Burns, R.B., Coughlin, S.S., Freund, K.M., Rice, J., Marwill, S.L., Ash, A., Shwartz, M., Moskowitz, M.A. "Mammography Use Helps to Explain Differences in Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis between Older Black and White Women." *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 1998, 128, 729-736.

McBean, A.M., Huang, Z., Virnig, B.A., Lurie, N., Musgrave, D. "Racial Variation in the Control of Diabetes Among Elderly Medicare Managed Care Beneficiaries." *Diabetes Care*, 2003, 26, 3250-3256.

McMahon, J.F., Wolfe, R.A., Huang, S., Tedeschi, P., Manning, W., Edlund, M.J. "Racial and Gender Variation in Use of Diagnostic Colonic Procedures in the Michigan Medicare Population." *Medical Care*, 1999, 37(7), 712-717.

McCall, N., Harlow, J., Dayhoff, D. "Rates of Hospitalization for Ambulatory care Sensitive Conditions in the Medicare+Choice Population."*Health Care Financing Review*, Spring 2001, Vol. 22, No. 3, 127-145.

National Cancer Institute, Center to Reduce Cancer Health Disparities. "What are Cancer Health Disparities? Barriers to Appropriate Cancer Care and Information." Available online: <u>http://crchd.nci.nih.gov/chd/barriers.html</u>, accessed December 4, 2004. National Center for Health Statistics. *Health, United States, 2004 with Chartbook on Trends in the Health of Americans.* Hyattsville, Maryland: 2004.

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. "National Diabetes Statistics Fact Sheet: General Information and National Estimates on Diabetes in the United States, 2003." Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2003. Rev. ed. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2004. Available online:

http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/pubs/statistics/index.htm, accessed January 24, 2005.

National Institutes of Health (NIH) web site. "Addressing Health Disparities: The NIH Program of Action. Available online: <u>http://healthdisparities.nih.gov/whatare.html</u>, accessed February 3, 2005.

Ngo-Metzger, Q., Legedza, A.T.R., Phillips, R.S. 'Asian Americans' Reports of their Health Care Experiences." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2004, 19(2): 111-119.

Rathore, S.S., Krumholz, H.M. "Differences, Disparities, and Biases: Clarifying Racial Variations in Health Care Use." *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 2004, 141, 635-638.

Ries, L.A.G., Eisner M.P., Kosary C.L., Hankey B.F., Miller B.A., Clegg L., Mariotto A., Feuer E.J., Edwards B.K. (eds). *SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2001*, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2001/search.pl#results</u>. Accessed December 28, 2004.

Sambamoorthi, U., McAlpine, D.D. "Racial, Ethnic, Socioeconomic, and Access Disparities in the Use of Preventive Services among Women." *Preventive Medicine*, 2003, 37, 475-484.

Shavers, V.L., Brown, M.L. "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Receipt of Cancer Treatment." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2002, 94(5): 334-357.

Shavers, V.L., Brown, M.L., Potosky, A.L., Klabunde, C.N., Davis, W.W., Moul, J.W., Fahey, A., "Race/Ethnicity and the Receipt of Watchful Waiting for the Initial Management of Prostate Cancer." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2004, 19, 146-155.

Siegal, S., May, E., Burstin, H. "Assessing the Nation's Progress Toward Elimination of Disparities in Health Care." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2004, 19, 195-200.

Smedley, B.D., Stith, A.Y., and Nelson, A.R. Editors. (2003). *Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care*, Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

Stewart, D.L., King, J.B., Thompson, T.D., Friedman, C., Wingo, P.A. "Cancer Mortality Surveillance—United States 1990-2000. *MMWR*, June 4, 2004, 53(SS03): 1-108.

Thompson, I.M., Tangen, C.M., Tolcher, A., Crawford, E.D., Eisenberger, M., Moinpour, C.M. "Association of African-American Ethnic Background with Survival in Men with Metastatic Prostate Cancer." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2001, 93(3): 219-225.

U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2000 Profiles of General Demographic Characteristics; United States. Prepared by the U.S. Census Bureau, 2001.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Healthy People 2010: Understanding and Improving Health.* 2nd ed. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, November 2000.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. "HHS Fact Sheet: Eliminating Minority Health Disparities." Available online: <u>www.raceandhealth.hhs.gov</u>, accessed October 12, 2004.

Velanovich, V., Yood, M.U., Bawle, U., Nathanson, S.D., Strand, V.F., Talpos, G.B., Szymanski, W., Lewis, F.R. "Racial Differences in the Presentation and Surgical Management of Breast Cancer." *Surgery*, 1999, 125(4): 375-379.

Virnig, B.A., Lurie, N., Huang, Z., Musgrave, D., McBean, A.M., Dowd, B. "Racial Variation in Quality of Care Among Medicare + Choice Enrollees." *Health Affairs*, 2002, 21(6): 224-230.

Whitehead, M. "The Concepts and Principles of Equity and Health." World Health Organization. Available online: <u>http://www.who.dk/Document/PAE/conceptsrpd414.pdf</u>, accessed February 4, 2004.

Zeliadt, S.B., Penson, D.F., Albertsen, P.C., Concato, J., Etzioni, R.D., "Race Independently Predicts Prostate Specific Antigen Testing Frequency Following a Prostate Carcinoma Diagnosis: *Cancer*, 2003, 98(3): 496-503.